# GREG RICHARDS and LIAN DUIF



# SMALL CITIES WITH BIG DREAMS

Creative Placemaking and Branding Strategies



# **Small Cities with Big Dreams**

How can small cities make an impact in a globalizing world dominated by 'world cities' and urban development strategies aimed at increasing agglomeration? This book addresses the challenges of smaller cities trying to put themselves on the map, attract resources and initiate development.

Placemaking has become an important tool for driving urban development that is sensitive to the needs of communities. This volume examines the development of creative placemaking practices that can help to link small cities to external networks, stimulate collaboration and help them make the most of the opportunities presented by the knowledge economy. The authors argue that the adoption of more strategic, holistic placemaking strategies that engage all stakeholders can be a successful alternative to copying bigger places. Drawing on a range of examples from around the world, they analyse small city development strategies and identify key success factors.

This book focuses on the case of 's-Hertogenbosch, a small Dutch city that used cultural programming to link itself to global networks and stimulate economic, cultural, social and creative development. It advocates the use of cultural programming strategies as a more flexible alternative to traditional top-down planning approaches and as a means of avoiding copying the big city.

Greg Richards is Professor of Placemaking and Events at Breda University and Professor of Leisure Studies at the University of Tilburg in the Netherlands. He has worked with numerous national governments, national tourism organizations, cities and regions on a wide range of placemaking projects.

Lian Duif was responsible for directing the Bosch500 programme in 's-Hertogenbosch from 2010 to 2016. She has a professional background in the field of tourism, cultural heritage and city marketing. Lian is involved in the marketing and development of tourism and cultural programmes with organizations such as the Netherlands Board of Tourism & Conventions and VisitBrabant.



# Small Cities with Big Dreams

Creative Placemaking and Branding Strategies

Greg Richards and Lian Duif



First published 2019 by Routledge 711 Third Avenue, New York, NY 10017

and by Routledge

2 Park Square, Milton Park, Abingdon, Oxon OX14 4RN

Routledge is an imprint of the Taylor & Francis Group, an informa business

#### © 2019 Taylor & Francis

The right of Greg Richards and Lian Duif to be identified as authors of this work has been asserted by them in accordance with sections 77 and 78 of the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reprinted or reproduced or utilised in any form or by any electronic, mechanical, or other means, now known or hereafter invented, including photocopying and recording, or in any information storage or retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publishers.

*Trademark notice*: Product or corporate names may be trademarks or registered trademarks, and are used only for identification and explanation without intent to infringe.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data
Names: Richards, Greg, author. | Duif, Lian, author.
Title: Small cities with big dreams: creative placemaking and branding strategies / Greg Richards and Lian Duif.
Description: New York, NY: Routledge, 2018.
Identifiers: LCCN 2018008394 | ISBN 9780815385424 (hardback) | ISBN 9780815391661 (pbk.)
Subjects: LCSH: City promotion. | Place marketing. |
Small cities.
Classification: LCC HT325 .R53 2018 | DDC 659.2/930776—dc23
LC record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2018008394

ISBN: 978-0-8153-8542-4 (hbk) ISBN: 978-0-8153-9166-1 (pbk) ISBN: 978-1-351-20119-3 (ebk)

Typeset in Sabon by codeMantra

Poor is the spirit that always uses the inventions of others and invents nothing themselves.

Hieronymus Bosch (c.1450–1516)



Ton Rombouts, Mayor of 's-Hertogenbosch with the picture 'The wood has ears, the field has eyes' by Hieronymus Bosch with his inscription: 'Poor is the spirit that always uses the inventions of others and invents nothing themselves' (armzalig is de geest die steeds gebruik maakt van de vondsten van anderen en zelf niets bedenkt) (photo: Ben Nienhuis).



# Contents

	List of Figures	X
	List of Tables	xi
	List of Photos	xii
	List of Boxes	xiv
	Preface	XV
1	Small Cities, Big Challenges	1
	Introduction 1	
	Throwing the Spotlight on Small Cities 3	
	The Advantages of Being Small 8	
	Getting Back to the Human Scale 10	
	How Can Small Cities Compete? 12	
	Small Places Creating Big Dreams 14	
	Towards a Creative Mode of Placemaking 15	
	The Elements of Placemaking 18	
	The Need for a Programme 20	
	Outline of the Volume 21	
	How Is This Book Different? 24	
2	Creating Opportunities with Limited Resources	30
	Introduction 30	
	Towards a Framework for Analysing Urban Resources 31	
	Competing with Scarce Resources: Does Size Matter? 34	
	Moving from Urbanization to Urbanity? 36	
	Public Space and Urban Amenities 39	
	Maintaining Distinction: The Role of Culture, Leisure, and Events 43	
	People and Talent 49	
	Towards New Ways of Thinking about Urban Resources 56 Conclusions 59	
	Conclusions 39	

3	Placemaking Process: Putting Things on the Move The Place of Small Cities in a Globalizing World 65 Where Do We Want To Be in 25 Years? 66 Stakeholders of the Small City 67 Developing a Vision as Programme Focus 70 Seeking Inspiration for a Shared Vision 73 Building Placemaking Partnerships 76 Planning vs Programming 81	65
4	The Art of Collaboration: Finding External Partners and Keeping Them on Board Collaboration as a New Mindset 88 Towards New Forms of Partnership 89 Network Development in 's-Hertogenbosch 93 International Knowledge Network: Bosch Research and Conservation Project 95	88
	International Cultural Network: Bosch Cities Network 96 Efteling-Heritage Network: Bosch Experience 98 Brabant Museums Network: Bosch Grand Tour 100 The Networks in a Placemaking Perspective 102 What's In It for Us and Them? 102 Building Knowledge Networks 106 Taking Position to Create Network Value 110 Conclusions 114	
5	Governance: The Art of Getting Things Done Introduction 118 The Economic Challenge: Attracting Resources 119 Governance: The Enabling Framework 120 Programme Governance 125 Network Governance 126 Developing Regimes to Get Things Done 129 Leadership 132 The Fluidity of Practices 136 Conclusions 137	118
6	Marketing and Branding the Small City Introduction 141 Building the Place Brand 141 Developing the Brand 145 Cities Need a Story 147 Telling the 's-Hertogenbosch Story 147	141

245

	Conclusion 161	
7	Impacts and Effects: Reaping the Rewards and Counting the Costs  Introduction 163  Establishing the Desired Effects 163  Measuring the Things That Count in a Programme 165  Measuring Change 169  Identifying Indicators 170  Local Pride and Social Cohesion 174  Cultural Effects 179  Counting the Cost 181  Costs of Bidding for Programmes 186  Intangible Programme Costs 187  Problems of Assessment 189  Conclusions 190	163
8	Tempo: Good Placemaking Takes Time Introduction 193 Making Time for Change 195 Choosing Your Moment 196 Persevering in the Face of Adversity 200 Multi-annual Cultural Programming 204 The Programme Cycle 210 Small Cities Can Create Time 212 Conclusions 213	193
9	Lessons for Other Places? Critical Success Factors in the 's-Hertogenbosch Story Introduction 215 Critical Success Factors 217 Learning from 's-Hertogenbosch? 218 Political Will and Long-Term Vision 219 Building a Placemaking Platform 227 Potential Pitfalls 230 Can These Principles Be Transferred to Other Places? 236 Concluding Thoughts: The Changing Position of the Small City in the Urban Field 237	215

Welcome Home, Hieronymus! 151

From Vision to Brand 157

Index

# List of Figures

4.1	The contribution of networks to the main elements of	
	placemaking	102
6.1	Google search trends: Hieronymus Bosch vs	
	Rembrandt, January-December 2016	150
6.2	Perceived images of Sibiu from resident and visitor	
	surveys, 2007, 2011, and 2017	159
7.1	Return on programme investment model (after Richards 2014)	171
7.2	European tourists rating Sibiu among their top five	
	cultural destinations, compared with Luxemburg	
	(ECOC 2007) and Liverpool (ECOC 2008)	177
7.3	Total cost per resident for the ECOC, 1995–2015, by	
	city population size	185
8.1	Programme attention cycle	211
8.2	A hypothetical extended programme cycle for Bosch500	212
9.1	The balance between resources, meanings, and	
	creativity in placemaking	241

# List of Tables

2.1	Critical dimensions of cultural development (after	
	Sacco and Blessi 2007)	33
2.2	Ranking of European cities in terms of quality of life	38
2.3	Annual growth in overnight stays in European cities	
	(top 10 fastest-growing cities per period)	39
2.4	Cannes Festival visitors	48
2.5	Volunteers in the European Capital of Culture	
	Programme, 2010–2015	54
5.1	City governance models (after Pierre 1999)	122
6.1	Brand-building for cities (after Ristilammi 2000;	
	Eurocities 2013)	145
7.1	Programme impacts and effects	164
7.2	Perceived impacts of the 2007 ECOC on Sibiu	
	2007–2017 (residents only)	177
7.3	Financial overview of the Bosch500 Programme (2010–2016)	184

# List of Photos

1.1	The "Hieronymus Boscn: Visions of Genius"	
	exhibition in 's-Hertogenbosch (photo: Lian Duif)	2
1.2	National New Year's concert by the Dutch Wind	
	Ensemble dedicated to Hieronymus Bosch	
	(photo: Lian Duif)	24
2.1	Opening of the Bosch500 programme, town hall,	
	's-Hertogenbosch (photo: Ben Nienhuis)	32
2.2	Bosch500 volunteers, Centraal Station	
	's-Hertogenbosch (photo: Ben Nienhuis)	50
2.3	Participants at the opening of the Bosch500	
	programme in the city centre of 's-Hertogenbosch	
	(photo: Ben Nienhuis)	55
2.4	Local winners of the Bosch500 Lottery for tickets to	
	the "Visions of Genius" exhibition (photo: Ben Nienhuis)	57
3.1	Bosch statues on the Bosch Experience trail	
	(photo: Ben Nienhuis)	75
3.2	Bosch Experience kidsproof (photo: Ben Nienhuis)	76
4.1	Bosch Young Talent Show (photo: Ben Nienhuis)	94
4.2	"Hieronymus B", performance by the Dance Company	
	Nanine Linning, a co-production of the Bosch Cities	
	Network (photo: Lian Duif)	97
4.3	Local children participate in Bosch Experience	
	(photo: Lian Duif)	98
4.4	"Bosch by Night" show in the market square	
	(photo: Ben Nienhuis)	99
4.5	Bosch Grand Tour exhibition "New Lusts", Moti	
	Breda (photo: Lian Duif)	100
4.6	Artworks inspired by Bosch (photo: Ben Nienhuis)	101
4.7	Art experts from the Bosch Research and	
	Conservation Project present a rediscovered Bosch	
	painting (photo: Marc Bolsius)	114
6.1	Live broadcast of the opening of the Bosch exhibition	
	on Dutch national television (photo: Ben Nienhuis)	146
6.2	Children playing in the "Garden of Earthly Delights"	
	(photo: Ben Nienhuis)	149

	List of Photos	xiii
6.3	Bosch Parade in 's-Hertogenbosch (photo: Ben Nienhuis)	155
7.1	King Willem-Alexander visits 's-Hertogenbosch for the opening of the Bosch exhibition (photo: Ben Nienhuis)	168
7.2	Visitors along the Bosch Parade in 's-Hertogenbosch	100
	(photo: Ben Nienhuis)	176
7.3	Community art project with the French artist Olivier	
	Grossetête (photo: Ben Nienhuis)	183
7.4	Locally brewed Jheronimus beer (photo: Ben Nienhuis)	185
8.1	Bosch500 Café in the theatre in 's-Hertogenbosch	
	(photo: Ben Nienhuis)	202
8.2	The collapsed building next door to the former house	
	and studio of Bosch (photo: Marc Bolsius)	202
8.3	Visitors in the market square in 's-Hertogenbosch	
	watching the "Bosch by Night" show (photo: Ben Nienhuis)	205
8.4	Bosch Dance in the theater of 's-Hertogenbosch	
	(photo: Ben Nienhuis)	207
8.5	Visitors during the Bosch Year in 's-Hertogenbosch	
	(photo: Ben Nienhuis)	209
9.1	Miraculous Climb to the top of St John's Cathedral in	
0.2	's-Hertogenbosch (photo: Ben Nienhuis)	216
9.2	Co-production by the Bosch Cities Network at the	
	Boulevard Festival in 's-Hertogenbosch (photo: Ben	~ ~ =
0.2	Nienhuis)	225
9.3	"Bosch Beast" spectacle for the closing of the Bosch500	225
	event on 11 December 2016 (photo: Ben Nienhuis)	233

# List of Boxes

1.1	Is there an optimum size for cities?	11
2.1	Hobart, Tasmania: the MONA effect	42
2.2	Eventful places: the pop-up revolution	46
2.3	The people of 's-Hertogenbosch	51
2.4	Co-creating programmes in Umeå, Sweden	58
3.1	Examples of vision statements for smaller cities	71
3.2	Rhizomatic placemaking in Fukaya, Japan	78
4.1	The challenge of local networking: Brabantstad, the	
	Netherlands	91
4.2	Building a relationship with the Prado Museum in Madrid	105
4.3	Developing the literary village in Óbidos, Portugal	109
4.4	Frederikshavn: the Palm Beach of northern Denmark	112
5.1	Governing the Bosch500 programme	123
5.2	Direct control of the Picasso-Aix Programme, France	127
5.3	Leadership from the Mayor in Sibiu, Romania	133
5.4	Santa Fe: visualizing the artistic dream	135
6.1	Graz: a city searching for distinctiveness	142
6.2	City icons and DNA: Jos Vrancken and Ad 's-Gravesande	152
6.3	Gathering community support in Guimarães	158
7.1	Impacts of the Bosch500 programme in 2016	171
7.2	Dubuque, Iowa: improving public space through	
	programming and development	178
8.1	Bilbao: a holistic approach to development	194
8.2	Building the Bosch500 programme	197
8.3	If at first you don't succeed	203
9.1	Chemainus, the "little town that did"	226
9.2	Advice from Hieronymus Bosch: the seven virtues and	
	the seven deadly sins of placemaking	234

# **Preface**

"Rotterdam Is Many Cities" was the slogan adopted by the Dutch port city for the construction of its programme for the European Capital of Culture in 2001. The slogan was devised by Intendant Bert van Meggelen based on a reading of Italo Calvino's book Invisible Cities. The idea was that every city, big or small, is actually many cities—the city of work, the city of leisure, the city of culture, the city by day, the city by night, the city of the migrant, the tourist, the artist. It was within this programme in 2001 that a major exhibition of the works of Dutch medieval painter Hieronymus Bosch was staged, attracting over 220,000 visitors. This in turn became the inspiration for a programme of events in the Dutch city of 's-Hertogenbosch 15 years later, on the 500th anniversary of the painter's death. It is perhaps no surprise that Rotterdam was successful with its version of the Bosch exhibition: it is a relatively large city (for the Netherlands) and it also owns works by Bosch. But for its much smaller and unpronounceable cousin, 's-Hertogenbosch, staging an exhibition was at first sight an impossible task: it had no reputation as an art city, little in the way of resources, and (most importantly) not one single artwork by Bosch.

This book tells the story of how 's-Hertogenbosch achieved what the *Guardian* newspaper termed a miracle: staging a world-class cultural programme with no apparent means at its disposal. We draw on the experience of the programme developed in 's-Hertogenbosch, as well as examples from other cities around the world, to illustrate how creative placemaking can help to improve small cities. We analyse the different elements of creative placemaking practice to show how any small city can potentially change its fortunes and put itself on the map.

This story would not have been possible without the hard work of a large number of people, and this book is no different. We were lucky to be able to draw on the experience and knowledge of a number of key informants who were engaged in different aspects of the placemaking process in 's-Hertogenbosch over the years. In particular we are grateful to the former Mayor of 's-Hertogenbosch, Ton Rombouts, for his insightful overview of the development of the city over the past 20 years—also for his encouragement to persevere with this project. We also got valuable

input for the book from Ad 's-Gravesande, Director of the Hieronymus Bosch 500 Foundation; Joks Janssen, Director of BrabantKennis and Professor of Spatial Planning and Heritage at Wageningen University; Jos Vrancken, General Director of the Netherlands Board of Tourism and Conventions; and Wim van der Donk, Commissioner of the King for the Province of North Brabant. In addition we are grateful to Lénia Marques, who made valuable comments on the initial draft of the book, and to Ben Nienhuis and Marc Bolsius, who gave permission for the use of photographic material.

Given the immense variety and diversity of small cities, a book such as this can never claim to be exhaustive. Inevitably we have made a selection of cases based on our own experience and knowledge. The central case is the Dutch city of 's-Hertogenbosch, where we have worked for many years researching and developing programmes. Many of the other cases are also drawn from Europe, which is our principal area of study. We also focus on cultural programmes, because we believe that these offer considerable opportunities for cities in terms of creative placemaking potential. As a whole, the cities presented in this book reflect our belief that all small cities can progress if they apply themselves to achieving big dreams.

# 1 Small Cities, Big Challenges

#### Introduction

Cities have been profoundly affected by the challenges of economic restructuring and positioning in a globalizing world. They have struggled to reshape themselves physically to create new opportunities, or to rebrand themselves to create distinction and attract attention. Their strategies often draw on a limited range of "models", taken from large industrial cities undergoing economic restructuring, such as the Baltimore waterfront development or the "Guggenheim effect" in Bilbao.

What about smaller cities that may lack the tangible resources and expertise to undertake such grandiose schemes? How can small cities put themselves on the global map? They don't have the muscle and influence of their larger neighbours, although they struggle with the same challenges. We argue that the adoption of more strategic, holistic placemaking strategies that engage all stakeholders can be a successful alternative to copying bigger cities.

We use the Dutch city of 's-Hertogenbosch in the Netherlands to illustrate how small places can grab attention and achieve growth, prosperity and social and cultural gains. This provincial city of 150,000 people put itself on the world stage with a programme of events themed on the life and works of medieval painter Hieronymus Bosch (or *Jheronimus Bosch* in Dutch), who was born, worked, and died in the city. For decades the city did nothing with his legacy, even though his paintings were made there. All the paintings left long ago, leaving the city with no physical Bosch legacy, and no apparent basis for building a link with him.

Eventually the 500th anniversary of Bosch's death provided the catalyst to use this medieval genius as a brand for the city. The lack of artworks by Bosch required the city to adopt the same kind of creative spirit that his paintings embody. By developing the international Bosch Research and Conservation Project, 's-Hertogenbosch placed itself at the hub of an international network of cities housing his surviving works, spread across Europe and North America. The buzz created around the homecoming exhibition of Bosch artworks generated headlines around



Photo 1.1 The "Hieronymus Bosch: Visions of Genius" exhibition in 's-Hertogenbosch (photo: Lian Duif).

the world and a scramble for tickets that saw the museum remaining open for 124 hours in the final week. A staggering 422,000 visitors came, grabbing tenth place in the Art Newspaper's exhibition rankings, alongside cities like Paris, London, and New York. The UK newspaper The Guardian said that the city had "achieved the impossible" by staging "one of the most important exhibitions of our century".

This "miracle" did not happen overnight. Many people worked long and hard to make 2016 an unforgettable year. An idea that was originally met with scepticism grew into a national event, with major cultural, social, and economic effects. 's-Hertogenbosch put itself on the global map. But it doesn't end there. As one participant said: "Dare to keep on dreaming big dreams. It is not over. You can create new dreams again" (Afdeling Onderzoek & Statistiek 2017: 9).

's-Hertogenbosch is not an isolated example. All over the globe smaller cities and places are making their mark in different ways – through events, new administrative models, community development programmes, innovative housing, new transport solutions, and other creative strategies. For example, Chemainus (British Colombia, population 4,000) was made world-famous by its outdoor gallery of murals (see Box 9.1). The formerly run-down city of Dubuque, Iowa (population 58,000) revitalized its Mississippi riverfront and now attracts well over 1,500,000 visitors a year (see Box 7.2). Hobart in Tasmania (population 200,000) has been rejuvenated by the MONA museum, as well as new events and festivals (see Box 2.1). Over one million people, including 130,000 international visitors, attended the 2016 Setouchi International Art Festival, which is held on twelve small islands in the Seto Inland Sea, Japan.

Although small places can be very successful in regenerating themselves, most attention is still focused on big cities; places with big problems, big plans, and big budgets. These are the cities that can hire starchitects and international consultants. They go for big, bold solutions, because they have little choice. Small cities may not have problems of the same scale, but they face their own challenge: how do they get noticed amongst the clamour of cities vying for attention? They can't stage the Olympic Games, they don't all have philanthropists to fund a museum, and they can't afford to hire Frank Gehry or Richard Florida so what can they do?

They can begin to play to their own strengths. They can mobilize the tangible and intangible resources they do have, link to networks, use their small scale creatively. This book highlights how small cities can become big players. As Giffinger et al. (2007: 3) note with respect to "medium-sized cities":

Contrary to the larger metropolises, relatively little is known about efficient positioning and effective development strategies based on the endogenous potential of medium-sized cities. Therefore a recommendable approach is to draw lessons from successful development strategies applied in other medium-sized cities tackling similar challenges and issues.

We follow this advice by reviewing what successful small cities have done, and drawing lessons for others.

We also highlight the possibilities created by the new economy. In recent decades, the intangible resources of cities have become far more important in their positioning and success. Cities have a wider range of tools and materials available, as well as a broader range of potential partners. In the "collaborative economy" it is no longer necessary to own resources: you can borrow and collaboratively develop many of the tools you need. This book outlines the implications of these changes for the small city and the possibilities they present.

This chapter reviews the place of the small city in the contemporary urban field and sketches the challenges and opportunities they face. We hope the chapters that follow will help inspire a new developmental agenda for the small city.

## Throwing the Spotlight on Small Cities

There has been a lot of attention paid to cities in recent decades. With 3.3 billion people now living in cities, the 21st century has been dubbed the "urban century" (Kourtit et al. 2015). Most of this attention has been focused on large cities, particularly the fast-growing mega-cities such as São Paulo, Tokyo, New York, and London. The big names in urban studies and planning also tend to focus on the biggest places. One list of "Top 20 Urban Planning Books (Of All Time)" features texts by Jane Jacobs, Lewis Mumford, Peter Hall, and Kevin Lynch, among others, dealing with cities such as New York, San Francisco, Montreal, Chicago, Los Angeles, London, Paris, New Delhi, Moscow, and Hong Kong (Planetizen 2016). Anne Power's (2016) book *Cities for a Small Continent: International Handbook of City Recovery* covers cities such as Bilbao, Sheffield, Lille, Turin, and Leipzig. These are not exactly small cities, with an average population of almost 750,000.

In spite of the volume of work on large places, recent years have also seen growing academic and professional interest in smaller places. This trend became evident around 2005, with a surge in books dealing specifically with the situation of small cities. Almost all of these volumes contrasted the position of small cities with those of the metropolis. Garrett-Petts's (2005) Small Cities Book argues that Culture (with a capital C) was equated with big city life. In subsequent studies of cities of under 100,000 people for the Small Cities Community-University Research Alliance (CURA), Garrett-Petts found that small cities tended to position themselves either as a scaled-down metropolis or as a small city with a big-town feel. Collected volumes by Bell and Jayne (2006) and Ofori-Amoah (2006) also paid specific attention to small cities and the urban experience "beyond the metropolis". Daniels et al. (2007) produced the first Small Town Planning Handbook (now in its third edition). At the same time Baker (2007) produced a guide to destination branding for small cities. A small-cities research agenda emerged, driven at least in part by what Jayne et al. (2010: 1408) argued was "[d]issatisfaction with urban theory dominated by study of 'the city' defined in terms of a small number of 'global' cities". This new agenda for research on small cities spawned yet more studies, with Connolly (2012) looking at the plight of industrial small cities, and Norman (2013) examining the effect of globalization, immigration, and other changes on small cities in the USA. He concluded that the influence of such factors is more nuanced in small cities than in their larger counterparts.

In 2012 Anne Lorentzen and Bas van Heur edited a volume on the Cultural Political Economy of Small Cities, arguing that smaller cities and their often distinct cultural strategies had been largely ignored. Criticizing the "metropolitan bias" of scholars such as Alan Scott and Richard Florida, they focused on culture and leisure, which they saw as key drivers of development in recent decades. Wuthnow (2013) also studied Small-Town America, through over 700 in-depth interviews, and concluded that the "smallness" of these places shapes their social networks, behaviour, and civic commitments and produces a strong sense of attachment. Walmsley and Kading (2017) also considered the plight of small cities in Canada confronting serious social issues in the

post-1980s neoliberal climate. They conclude that while some cities have managed to develop inclusionary responses to external change, others have singularly failed. As well as these general reviews of the small-city condition, specific small cities have also been analysed. Trenton, New Jersey, is seen by Richman (2010) as a "lost city" in the post-industrial age. Dikeman (2016) charts Mayor Dan Brooks's career in North College Hill, Ohio, showing how he helped to put this small city on the map. A more global view is offered by Kresl and Ietri (2016), who use data from both the USA and Europe in their analysis of *Smaller Cities in a World of Competitiveness*. In the contemporary urban world, they point out, one of the imperatives is competing for attention.

There is clearly more attention focused on smaller cities now, although there is still a lack of coherent analysis. In particular, there is relatively little known about the process of small-city development – how and why particular small cities succeed. To start addressing this question, we first need to look at the urban field as a whole, and the position of smaller cities within it.

#### The Global Urban Field

In 2014, the United Nations counted 28 mega-cities of over 10 million people, containing around 12% of the global population. However, there are many more smaller cities than large ones: around 43% of the world's population live in cities of 300,000 inhabitants or fewer. In the European Union, approximately half of the cities have a population of between 50,000 and 100,000 inhabitants. In the year 2000, slightly more than half of the USA's population lived in settlements with fewer than 25,000 people or in rural areas (Kotkin 2012). These places of fewer than 25,000 residents make up the vast majority of "urbanized areas" in the US. As the Atlantic City Lab (2012) notes: "Of the 3,573 urban areas in the U.S. (both urbanized areas and urban clusters), 2,706 of them are small towns" – or almost 80%.

As Horacio Capel (2009) noted, what "small" means depends on context. Studies in Europe (Laborie 1979), Latin America, and North America all have differing size categories for "small" or "medium" cities. "Small" might therefore be viewed more as a state of mind: Bell and Jayne (2006), for example, describe small cities as having limited urbanity and centrality, so that they have limited political and economic reach beyond their immediate surroundings, matched by limited aspirations, and self-identification as "small" places. Language also affects our idea of what the city is and therefore what constitutes "smallness". For example, the English language distinguishes between a city and a town, a distinction which is often (although not always) related to size and function. But this distinction is not reflected in the use of the words *ville* in French or *ciudad* in Spanish.

#### 6 Small Cities, Big Challenges

Capel (2009: 7) further notes that the competitive situation of small cities has changed in recent decades:

In the current situation of generalized urbanization, the meaning of middle and small cities is changing, with respect to what happened in the past. While it could long be asserted that urban growth was a very positive fact (the larger, the better), since the 1960s, when the controversy about growth limits was raised, this perspective began to change.

These days there is more attention paid to balanced growth – an area in which small cities may have significant advantages in terms of innovation, easy access to knowledge and culture, links to areas of dynamic economic development, and above all being very agreeable places to live in (Capel 2009).

The recognition of these qualities of small cities means that the population decline that characterized many smaller cities until recently has now been reversed in many places. Smaller cities can offer a better quality of life and as a result they are often growing faster. "Many of the fastest growing cities in the world are relatively small urban settlements" (United Nations 2014). Europe has witnessed population shifts from urban to rural and from larger to smaller cities (Dijkstra et al. 2013: 347):

large cities no longer play the driving role in the second decade of modern globalization since the turn of the millennium that they did during the 1990s, the first decade of the modern globalization. Economic growth in Europe is increasingly driven by predominantly intermediate and predominantly rural regions, as well as predominantly urban regions.

In spite of the relative importance of smaller cities, according to Kresl and Ietri (2016) there has been a lack of theorization and comparative research. This means we know a lot about larger cities and their problems, but a lot less about small cities and their challenges and opportunities. There is some evidence to suggest that we cannot simply apply what we know about large cities to smaller ones. Size matters, because the growth of cities produces qualitative changes in the mixture of residents, their housing, transport, and other infrastructure, and the provision of services. Larger cities provide the density to support a level of service provision that smaller places find it hard to replicate. In the Netherlands, Meijers (2008) concluded that simply adding small places together does not provide the same level of amenities per head of the population as found in larger cities.

Small cities are therefore qualitatively different from large ones. This is partly a question of population, and also of levels of influence,

connectedness, or the ability to attract jobs and investment. Size matters, because cities increasingly need to compete for resources. In the past, smaller cities were relatively protected by national structures from competition, but "smaller cities now confront greater challenges than has ever been the case", while the need to plan strategically and mobilize assets has never been greater (Kresl and Ietri 2016: 7). Giffinger et al. (2007) underline the increasingly competitive context for small cities: "changes in economic, social and institutional differences make cities more similar in their conditions and competition is scaled down from the national level to the level of cities and regions." So small cities need a strategy to compete effectively.

In this competitive struggle, Kresl and Ietri (2016) argue, small cities have disadvantages, and also important advantages. The main disadvantages are:

- lack of recognition and distinctiveness
- lack of vision:
- risk aversion:
- lack of strategic planning;
- lack of endogenous resources;
- spatial disadvantage, such as lack of density.

Smaller cities are also often ill-equipped to deal with such challenges. Renn (2013) reports on the plight of many smaller "post-industrial cities" who "for the most part [...] have really struggled to reinvent themselves". De-industrialization has left deep scars in many smaller places, which have often lost investment and talent and find it hard to recover:

And even with growth, the most ambitious and best-educated people will still tend to leave places like Hull (UK). Their size, location and demographics means that they will never offer the sorts of restaurants or shops that the middle classes like.

(Renn 2013)

The implication is that small cities find it difficult to be as strategic or creative as large ones. This is often because large cities face much greater challenges, and so they have to confront and attempt to solve their problems. Smaller cities can often be comfortable places to live and to visit, and this can also lead to a lack of ambition. So why should small cities change? Why should they nurture big dreams? Does every city need a big dream?

Apart from the basic competitive argument, which holds that standing still will eventually lead to decline, there is also an increasing need for small cities to adapt themselves to the changing external environment. Global communication systems and the "network society"

(Castells 1996) provide new opportunities for small cities. It is no longer necessary to live in the heart of London or New York to be well-connected. Growing numbers of people can work from anywhere, so why not from a small city with a higher quality of life? In fact, we argue in this book that the changing environment of cities is also changing the way they need to act. The possibilities of linking and collaborating with other cities in the "we-economy" (Hesseldahl 2017) means that cities should increasingly think about their role as platforms for a wide range of economic, social, and cultural processes that can combine to develop new business models, new ways of doing things. For small cities it is not just about falling behind in a competitive race, but also about seizing the new opportunities offered by a rapidly changing world.

## The Advantages of Being Small

In the new economy, much emphasis has been placed on the role of "soft infrastructure" such as networking, meeting spaces, cultural clusters, and "atmosphere" (see Chapter 2). This is also an area where small cities can develop advantages:

Contrary to what one might expect, the population size of a city does not determine its performance in culture and creativity. On average, small and medium-sized cities score relatively well compared to larger ones, particularly on "Cultural Vibrancy" and "Enabling Environment".

(Montalto et al. 2017: 23)

Small cities therefore have some important advantages over larger ones, which according to Kresl and Ietri (2016) can include:

- location they are often close to resources important for traditional industries;
- cultural assets;
- high quality of life;
- high levels of happiness;
- higher-education resources (universities were often founded in smaller places);
- high social capital;
- start-ups and innovation.

There is a growing body of evidence for these advantages of living in small cities. For example, Okulicz-Kozaryn (2017) found that smaller cities in the USA have higher levels of happiness, or subjective well-being. He concludes that "people are happiest in smallest areas despite that these places seem largely forgotten by academics, policy makers, and

businesses" (p. 144). This is a pattern also evident in many European countries. For example, in the Netherlands Marlet (2016) concludes that recent years have seen the rise of "monumental cities", which are characterized by an attractive built heritage, with a highly educated population. Many of these cities are small, such as 's-Hertogenbosch. Because of their attractive cityscapes and the presence of well-heeled consumers, they have more culture, better restaurants, and fewer empty shopfronts than other small cities (Garretsen and Marlet 2017).

Lorenzen and Andersen (2007) also found that the creative class tended to be more prevalent in middle-sized cities of between 70,000 and 1.2 million people. They argue larger cities are unattractive because "the creative class may respond particularly adversely to urban congestion problems" (p. 5). In the UK, Lee and Rodríguez-Pose (2015) analyse data from the British Small Business Survey and conclude that there is little evidence that firms in larger "creative cities" are more innovative than those elsewhere. In Canada, Denis-Jacob (2012: 110) also found that the presence of cultural workers is not clearly related to city size:

While most cultural workers remain concentrated in major metropolitan areas, some small cities are also successful in attracting them. Small places such as Stratford (Ontario), Canmore (Alberta), Port Hope (Ontario) and Nanaimo (BC) have indeed a high share of their working population employed in cultural industries.

Oliver (2000: 361) argued that social capital, measured in terms of civic engagement, tends to be higher in smaller US cities. "Controlling for both individual- and city-level characteristics, people in larger cities are much less likely to contact officials, attend community or organizational meetings, or vote in local elections [...] People in big cities are less likely to be recruited for political activity by neighbors and are less interested in local affairs."

Changing residential and lifestyle preferences are therefore helping many small cities to grow. In the future the size disadvantage of smaller cities may also be overcome because of changes in technology in terms of production, transportation, and communication, which will erode the current advantage of large cities (Okulicz-Kozaryn 2017). The decline of central government financial transfers also means that larger cities will have less advantage from these in future. Okulicz-Kozaryn (2017) also argues that the advantages of smaller places are likely to increase, thanks to our growing ability to work from anywhere. So it seems that small is the new big. As McKnight (2017) points out:

Small towns are hot. They're hip. They're attracting investment. Am I crazy? Don't think so and here's why. Large urban centers and small towns have more in common than you may first think. Big

cities are really a mosaic of small towns (neighborhoods) that share a common economic market.

This highlights the point that the areas in big cities studied by Richard Florida, Sharon Zukin, and other urbanists are often really "urban villages". These give people at least some of the benefits of living in a small place, even in the heart of the big city.

McKnight also argues that other factors are reducing the gap between big and small. Technology has rendered the work place and markets more mobile and flexible, and choices about where to live or locate a business are increasingly based on personal preferences and the ability to attract talent with fewer geographic market constraints. In particular, millennials are moving into small urban centres, renovating old industrial spaces, creating art districts and co-working spaces. They want a small-town community feel, with the amenities commonly found in larger urban centres and at lower cost (McKnight 2017).

The important question for the many people living in smaller cities is – how can these places deliver a better quality of life than big cities? The answer seems to be that if small cities can generate sufficient economic opportunities, then the inherent quality of life advantages of being small will win out. The economic dynamism of small cities is also becoming evident:

Forbes' Best Cities For Jobs survey [...] found that small and midsized metropolitan areas, with populations of 1 million or less, accounted for 27 of the 30 urban regions in the country that are adding jobs at the fastest rate.

(Kotkin 2012)

In this climate, as Kresl and Ietri (2016: 25) argue, "the fascination with mega-cities [...] is therefore beginning to wear a bit thin". Bell (2017) even asks whether big cities should be learning from small ones. He argues that small cities are more nimble, and can therefore act more quickly, if they have the structures in place. They are friendlier, more sociable, and there is a greater sense of local community. They integrate smart and sustainable development into their future planning and are able to attract talent. And they are able to make an impact on a larger proportion of the population through their projects and programmes.

## Getting Back to the Human Scale

The success of small cities or older cities relative to newer industrial centres can arguably be explained by their retention of human scale. Because of their relatively compact form, they offer many spaces where residents and visitors can interact. They are readable and navigable for

people on foot. This is one of the key reasons why many American cities are now redeveloping or creating new downtown areas (e.g. West Jordan, Utah; Lakewood, Colorado; Carmel, Indiana; Bend, Oregon).

Danish planner Jan Gehl (2010) underlines the importance of designing public space to make people feel welcome, to enable them to interact. The key is to invite people to walk, bike, and stay in public space, increasing safety, sustainability, and liveliness. This idea is being implemented in many cities around the globe. The Project for Public Spaces (PPS) identifies a rising concern with the need for human scale in cities, with groups such as the New Yorkers for a Human Scale City group (NYHSC) seeking "to guide future development towards a humanscaled future – one that protects rather than destroys New York's historic fabric". New Yorkers for a Human Scale City (NYHSC) is a coalition of 84 neighbourhood, public space, and civic organizations. According to Montgomery (2013), promoting human-scale development is basically a choice between two planning options - either concentrating on constructing buildings, thereby increasing corporate wealth and ultimately GDP, or focusing on mixed-use and human-scale public places which foster community well-being.

As PPS points out, human scale in any given community depends upon what that community perceives as human scale. Very often it refers to the need to prioritize pedestrians over cars, as Jan Gehl argues. More pedestrians mean more human interaction, which positively affects well-being as well as health. However, as Dix (1986: 274) pointed out, the advantages of small size and human scale go much further:

The positive advantages of smaller, secondary settlements lie in the possibility of developing in them a sense of identity, a corporate spirit and outlook covering the whole population. This may not only make government easier but also encourage civic development initiatives and responsibility.

# Box 1.1 Is there an optimum size for cities?

For many scholars, size continues to be an important factor in determining the quality of urban life. The studies quoted above on city size and happiness, social capital, and the presence of the creative class all seem to suggest some kind of "optimum" city size above or below which the quality of life will begin to drop. In the early 1970s some studies suggested that the optimum city size at which the cost of public goods was minimized was around 250,000. In this "traditional" view, large cities are good for firms and bad for people (Albouy 2008).

(Continued)

More recent research that considers the "soft" factors of location comes up with differing estimates of optimum size. For Lorenzen and Andersen (2007), the cities with the highest density of creative class numbered between 70,000 and 1.2 million inhabitants. Okulicz-Kozaryn (2017) seems to suggest that over a threshold of around 10,000 people, happiness decreases with size. He also quotes research from Chinese cities suggesting that optimum happiness is reached at between 200,000 and 500,000 people.

So there is little agreement on what the optimum city size might be, from either an economic or a well-being perspective. There is also little agreement on what constitutes a "small city". Kresl and Ietri (2016) studied "small cities" of between 250,000 and 2 million, whereas the Small City Economic Dynamism Index in the United States includes cities of between 10,000 and 500,000. In Canada, Garrett-Petts (2005) analysed small cities of fewer than 100,000 people.

In recent years, however, these advantages of smaller cities have been contrasted with calls for larger cities that can provide greater agglomeration advantages. For example, Richard Florida (2017) champions the role of "superstar cities" in creating wealth. What do we need smaller, more intimate cities, or larger, superstar cities? Is there an optimum city size that supports a good quality of life and strong economic performance (Box 1.1)?

## How Can Small Cities Compete?

One important question is whether small cities can compete effectively with larger places. Getz (2017) sees cities as playing in different leagues: "Cities and destinations compete in 'leagues' with parameters set by their resources, venues, willingness to take risks and professionalism. If they want to advance into a higher league they will have to invest heavily." However, Evans and Foord (2006) argue that small cities cannot compete effectively if they think like big cities: "by thinking big, small cities have been seduced into entering a culture-led city competition in which the stakes are high and the prospects of success limited" (p. 151). The problem, according to Evans and Foord, is "reliance on flagship cultural buildings, iconic cultural institutions, cultural and heritage quarters alongside cultural events, festivals and markets [...] to kickstart both physical regeneration and visitor economics" (p. 152) - a reliance which is pushing cities towards a consumption-based economy and ignoring social goals. Problems emerge when cultural projects are neither home-grown nor locally embedded, and small cities engage in copycat strategies.

Similar patterns emerge in Canada, where Lewis and Donald (2009) argue that creative capital theory has a narrow view of creativity and provides a discourse of "creativity competition" in which smaller cities are bound to fail. The indicators used to measure the creativity of cities tend to favour big-city features such as technology and innovation poles, large corporations, and immigrants, which "ultimately prevents smaller Canadian cities from becoming 'success stories'" (Lewis and Donald 2009: 34).

Previous studies have suggested two basic strategies by which small cities can effectively compete with bigger ones. One is through specialization, such as the development of creative experiences, creative spaces, and innovative products, especially for niche markets (van Heur 2012). The other is by "borrowing size" from their larger neighbours. By working with nearby larger cities, small cities can "punch above their weight" (Kresl and Ietri 2016: 12). However, both strategies are essentially framed by size. The first avoids direct competition with big places by sticking to small niches, and the second makes small places bigger in order to compete.

However, small cities don't need to become bigger cities or find small ponds to be big fishes in. In this book we outline a number of alternative strategies that take into account the new possibilities being offered by changes in the global economy. In the contemporary network society, a number of shifts are converging to provide new possibilities:

- Intangible resources are becoming more important. This means that some advantages of size (such as having more physical resources) are declining.
- Collaboration with other cities and citizens is more important in urban competitiveness. You don't have to be big to collaborate, particularly as this makes it possible to access resources that are above your size. You can use co-creation and coopetition strategies to reach your goals.
- The shift from comparative advantage to competitive advantage places more emphasis on how you use the resources you have or can obtain.
- In the network society, power is related not just to the content you
  have, but also to the use of networks and particularly the development of hubs and platforms to distribute knowledge and other
  resources.

The new complexities of the changing role of the city in the network society mean we need to rethink the interrelationships between cities, their inhabitants, their resources, and the ways in which cities compete in the urban field. In the past this has been analysed largely in terms of industries, talent, or amenities. These factors tend to accrue more readily to bigger cities, whereas the advantages of smaller places can be found primarily in the relational and creative spheres.

Small cities need not grow physically to compete with their bigger neighbours. Instead of quantity, they should grow in terms of quality. They should try and find fields in which to excel, and acquire the benefits of size without physical growth. New opportunities for doing this are now emerging in the form of the networks which are connecting people, organizations, and places in ways which were not possible before. The increased circulation of information and ideas has sparked developments such as the rise of the collaborative economy, which enables ownership and control to be conceived of in new ways. To use the potential provided by the network society, small cities should think about how their relationships, both internal and external, can deliver value and help them to achieve their ambitions.

## **Small Places Creating Big Dreams**

Capel (2009) emphasizes that cities need projects. Without clearly formulated projects that are widely accepted by citizens, the city can't advance. A small city needs initiatives and projects for the future. There are plenty of possibilities for endogenous development through social, intellectual, and cultural relationships in small cities, if they have the imagination to succeed. The need for endogenous development, for building from within, is important economically and psychologically – cities need their own ideas, their own dreams. As Dutch soccer star Johan Cruyff once remarked: "It's better to go down with your own vision than with someone else's." If you follow somebody else's dream, it is easy to blame them. If you follow your own dream, you can make your own path – and be more motivated to follow it.

Overcoming the disadvantages of being small means that smaller cities need to work harder on their dreams. Getting cities to work harder is a question of creating goals, giving direction and focus, and maintaining momentum. For large cities, the goals are often evident – they often urgently need to house people, provide jobs, organize efficient transport, reduce crime. Because smaller places don't usually have the impulse of huge problems, they need a catalyst to create movement – dreams to follow.

A big dream doesn't need a vast scale – it just needs the right scope, form, and tone to move people. The vision and the plan should be holistic; they need to engage everybody, not just one group. This is also one advantage that small cities have – ideas can more easily encompass the city as a whole. In a city with human scale big dreams don't need to compete with other dreams – they have the room to mature and grow.

This is important because one of the arguments in this book is that placemaking involves a synergy between top-down and bottom-up processes, with a considerable investment of effort, resources, and time to make it work (see Chapter 8). The city as a whole needs to be involved, otherwise it is unlikely that the dream will take root.

Marano (2005) argues that small places need to first develop a vision:

the most successful towns, large or small, are those with a clear vision of what they want to be. Whether it is a town like Waynesville, Ohio (pop. 2,500), the "Antiques Capitol of the Midwest;" Sprague, Connecticut (pop. 3,000), "A 19th Century Town Restored for 21st Century Commerce and Recreation;" or Berthoud, Colorado (pop. 4,839), "The Garden Spot of Colorado," growth management starts with community vision.

As part of establishing a vision, successful communities usually develop a strategic planning initiative (we provide a summary of some of these visions in Chapter 3). Armed with a vision and a plan, a city can then go about formulating measures and processes allowing it to manage its growth and become the place it wants to be. How can it put these processes in motion?

One of the characteristics of many of the successful smaller places is that they have inspirational leaders. As Bernstein and McCarthy (2005: 15) note: "Some places develop despite a lack of natural attraction or specific economic function. They do so because of visionary leadership and effective co-operative programmes of development." Many big cities have done it; now some smaller ones are doing it too, with the help of big thinking.

Landry (2015) identifies "cities of ambition", which are often smaller cities located in peripheral regions, such as Östersund, Tampere, Aarhus, or Umeå in Scandinavia. "They have all done things well beyond their expected circumstances," and their thinking is strategic. These places are creative, and there are many leaders and many levels of leadership. Most importantly, these places get things done. Doing things is important, as Pratt suggests: Landry's "thesis is not about consumption, but about process. It is about an inclusive and participatory city where arts and culture are a means and a practice of place-making and living" (Pratt 2008: 35).

Our vision for cities is not based on size or location: we argue that every city has potential, no matter where, no matter how small.

## Towards a Creative Mode of Placemaking

Placemaking is different from place marketing, which seeks to use marketing tools and a customer-oriented philosophy to sell the city to customers (Eshuis et al. 2014), or to turn a place into a destination. Placemaking, on the other hand also involves non-market processes and an effort to improve the quality of the lives of all those who use the place. An attractive external image should be a by-product of placemaking, not the goal. If a place is made more liveable for those who are already there, it should also become attractive to others.

For this reason we have framed placemaking as a form of social practice, or a routinized type of behaviour which consists of several interconnected elements, such as objects, forms of thinking, understandings, know-how, states of emotion, and motivational knowledge (Reckwitz, 2002). Shove et al. (2012) identified three basic elements of a social practice as materials (things, technologies, resources), meanings (symbolic meanings, ideas, and aspirations), and competences (skill, know-how, and technique). All three elements are essential to the practice. In driving, for example, the material object, the car, is needed to drive, and so are the competences or knowledge of driving and the meaning that is created by driving (the car as means of transport, status symbol, etc). An important element of studying practices is that attention shifts from the actors themselves to how the practice is constituted or "carried" by its performers. In the case of driving this would include an understanding of how driving becomes to be seen as an essential part of life by many, how attached we become to our cars, and how these support people's lifestyles and identities, for example. The social practice of driving as a whole explains why increasing numbers of cars choke our roads every day and why people ignore more sustainable alternatives.

We recognize, as Shove et al. (2012: 15) indicate, working with only three components or elements "is at the expense of simplifying what social practices are about" (Spaargaren et al. 2016: 7). In spite of this risk of oversimplification, our analysis of different cases shows the importance of combining these three elements across a wide range of placemaking cases.

By considering the materials, meanings, and competences in the practice of placemaking, we can consider how cities are made. Cities also develop certain ways of doing things, or practices. The practices of placemaking have often been dominated by the needs and habits of big cities. This volume attempts to frame practices of placemaking that are suited to the needs of small cities as well (away from models, megaprojects, and starchitects and towards human scale and appropriate ways of doing).

Our approach to placemaking tries to consider the different dimensions of place and how these articulate with processes of change. We have therefore adapted the social-practice model of Shove et al. (2012) into a form more suited to the context of cities. Mirroring the concepts of materials, meanings, and competences, we have identified three broad elements of placemaking practice:

- Resources: the tangible and intangible resources available to the city, or which it can obtain. We draw here on Schatzki's broader concept of material arrangements which includes "humans, artifacts, organisms, and things of nature" (Schatzki 2010: 129).
- Meanings: engaging stakeholders and linking people emotionally with the places they live in and use, and initiating the processes needed to change and improve the city.
- Creativity: weaving narratives to link tangible and intangible resources and meanings into a coherent story that can capture the attention and support of the city's publics, and making creative and innovative use of resources.

We view placemaking as a practice that combines these three essential elements so as to produce specific outcomes – and ultimately to improve the quality of place for all. All three of these elements need to be present for the system to work effectively. The resources a place has will only be used creatively if they have meaning for people.

In our conception of the placemaking practice for cities, we have changed Shove et al.'s "materials" into "resources" because we would argue that cities comprise much more than just physical things: they also use intangible resources and people to achieve things. We use "meanings" in a similar sense to Shove et al. (2012), but because of the collective nature of meanings in cities we see meaning-making as a process that is engaged in by a diverse group of city stakeholders. Finally, we have replaced "competences" with "creativity". This is partly because we feel that more than simple competence is needed to develop places – there is always a creative aspect. As Amabile (2012) suggests, creativity involves skills and competences, but also the idea of making something new, of progressing beyond the routine or the ordinary, and the motivation to be creative. We also wanted to steer clear of "competences" in the case of cities, because this word is too closely related to the powers or jurisdiction possessed by city authorities. Most importantly, we feel that creativity is the act that can transform placemaking into a positive force for change.

We therefore see placemaking as a process of setting the available and potential resources of a place in motion by giving them meaning for the many actors who can use them to improve the quality of place. Again, we emphasize that the placemaking vision should encompass the whole city (all the different groups using the city), because equality is an important basic principle, without which placemaking is bound to fail.

Once the placemaking process is set in motion, the small city should engage external as well as internal audiences in the discussion. The local dream needs to be disseminated so that the city can secure the resources it needs. External interest also stimulates the local community to become even more involved – because the world is watching them and showing interest in what they do. It gives them the confidence and the courage to make sure their dream is realized in the long term.

Placemaking is a process of change that can enable a city to meet both internal and external challenges more effectively.

## The Elements of Placemaking

Let's examine the elements of placemaking practice in more detail.

#### Resources

The basic tangible and intangible resources, or the materials (tangible, intangible, existing, potential) that belong to and make places, provide an important basis for action. Economists have long concentrated on material factors of production in their analyses, which makes it inevitable that bigger places will have more resources. However, the transformation of the economy in recent decades means that more attention is now being paid to intangible resources, which can reduce the resource disadvantage for smaller places.

Copious material resources are often sufficient to provide large cities with meaning. They are the capital cities, the financial or industrial centres, the crossroads, the gathering places. But this also means that these different resources begin to compete (e.g. festivals and museums fight each other for funding and visitors) and it is difficult for each one to gain a unique spotlight.

In smaller cities immaterial resources are particularly important, because the culture, creativity, and skills available within the city allows them to make better use of the relatively limited means at their disposal. This is why in the case of 's-Hertogenbosch, for example, the development strategy has been based on a combination of culture and education – increasing the tangible and intangible resources of the city at the same time as building people's capacity to make use of those resources. Chapter 2 deals with the question of resources in more detail.

## Meanings

Lefebvre (1991) argued that space is about more than materials: it also about how space is represented, or given meaning. Of course places mean things to the people who live there, work, visit, or invest in them. These meanings can also be changed and challenged. Key questions for cities now include: How can negative or neutral associations be turned into positive ones? How can we make places mean something to people who have never been there? How can we ensure the city means something positive for all its inhabitants?

The meanings attached to places are often linked to ties – ties of belonging, ownership, identity, home, origin and heritage. In the past, status was often gained from the strength of these ties – how long people had lived in one place, or how many people they knew. In a globalized world, status is now often attained by breaking existing ties, and making new ones. Movement and mobility are the new badges of rank in the developed world. This very mobility produces interesting new challenges: for example, how do new residents feel at home in a new city? Cities have to try and bond with new residents, with visitors as "temporary citizens", and make them feel it is their place too. New arrivals can also be a lever for change: they challenge established ideas and can ease problems of lock-in for small cities.

This process of reattachment to place holds some of the secrets of changing meanings. This is a process that has been going on as long as there have been cities. And it is gathering speed as flurries of marketing and branding campaigns succeed each other. Small cities are also at a disadvantage here. If you are not known as a city in your own right, then as well as borrowing size, you might be tempted to borrow reputation. If you can't be Venice, you might manage to become the Venice of the North (Stockholm), or of the East (Souzhou, Wuzhen), or one of the many other copies of the original Venice (Richards 2016):

Venices of the North include Amsterdam, Bruges, Manchester and Stockholm. Western Venices include Venice, California ... and Shannon in Ireland. There are many contenders for Venice of the East. Bandar Seri Begawan, capital of Brunei, Suzhou in China, Osaka in Japan and Udaipur in India all lay claim to this much-acclaimed title.

(Tourdust 2015)

Our argument is that if places want to be distinctive and successful, they need to create their own image and identity on the basis of their own DNA – not borrow somebody else's. The process of unearthing and making meaning from your city's DNA is dealt with in more detail in Chapter 6.

## Creativity

Making the DNA of a place meaningful to a wide range of stakeholders is not easy – it requires creativity. Creativity can capture the imagination and put things on the move, change perspectives, and make connections between people and places. To develop meaning out of the resources available to cities, creativity is essential. It can be the key to giving meaning to the rich array of resources the city has.

As Fuchs and Baggio (2017: 6) emphasize, "innovative places and attractive destinations should be characterized and understood as open,

free and well interconnected territories whose unique history and specific beauty shapes and fosters the creativity of place-makers capable to transform inherited location factors into assets with high symbolic value and meaning."

For the placemakers of a city, one of the essential creative skills is storytelling. As we will see in Chapter 6, one of the key success factors for 's-Hertogenbosch was having an irresistible story that had meaning for large numbers of people. Such stories depend on the uniqueness derived from place and time: why here, why now? They also need to mean something not just to those living in the city, but also to people elsewhere. Uniqueness is not only something that comes from within; it can also be identified from outside. Sometimes the unique features of a place consist of things that locals have turned their back on, because they are not modern, or trendy or popular, or have simply been forgotten. Hieronymus Bosch has not always been the hero for 's-Hertogenbosch – at times he has been an irrelevance, an embarrassment, or simply ignored.

Developing the key elements of the story often falls to the selectors, curators, or 'switchers' of the city. Castells (2009) identified switchers as people or institutions who can link different networks together, helping to articulate the city to its wider environment, and creating new links and opportunities. Whereas in the past these switchers might have been limited to the political class or business people, today there is a wider range of options, including the creative industries, artists, sports personalities, journalists, media figures, or bloggers. Many argue that these are more likely to be found in larger cities, although Den Dekker and Tabbers (2012) show that 'creative crowds' are also prevalent in smaller places. Even though small in number, the tendency of creative crowds to coagulate around specific creative hubs in the city ensures that there is sufficient critical mass to support the exchange of ideas that Potts et al. (2008) see as the essential driver of the creative industries.

Creativity is therefore important as a source of new ideas and change, and because it links to other places and increases place attractiveness. However, creativity is not something quantifiable, or an abstract quality that can be used to rank places. Any city can be creative given the right tools, and the vision to develop new meanings for the resources at its disposal.

## The Need for a Programme

The creative mode of placemaking implies a dynamic relationship between resources, meanings, and creativity. Good placemaking is not something that you can switch on at the flick of a button – it takes time (as we outline in Chapter 8). Taking time, timing, and tempo are all important – what is needed is not just an idea, or a single project, but a whole programme.

Placemaking should involve coherent *programmes* that can mobilize a wide range of stakeholders over a sustained period. A programme can include many different types of actions – physical infrastructure, events, or projects. These individual elements need to be arranged in a way that they support and reinforce each other.

Our definition of a programme is: a coherent series of strategic actions that are developed over time to maximize the effects of civic policies and increase the quality of life of those using the city. Developing a coherent series of strategic actions takes time. It takes time to develop hubs and to scale up from the local to regional, national, and international levels. Building an ambitious plan (or dream) for small cities means that you should create space in your strategy for future growth in order to reach the next level.

Programmes arguably have advantages over more traditional thinking about urban development in terms of:

- Attracting Attention. The function of a programme is to highlight particular issues that are important for the city. A well-designed programme should be able to act as a focus of attention for the city and its stakeholders, as well as attracting attention from outsiders.
- *Building confidence*. A programme implies a logically structured sequence of actions undertaken over time. In contrast to a one-off project, a programme signals serious intent and long-term commitment, building confidence between the partners.
- Developing attractiveness. A programme can be used to enhance
  particular features of the city in order to increase its attractiveness
  to residents, visitors, businesses, and those who may want to invest
  in the city. This will often include some element of storytelling the
  development of narratives about the city, its DNA, and its people.
- *Generating catalytic effects.* A well-designed programme can dynamize the city, synchronizing agendas and stimulating different stakeholders to move more quickly towards their shared dream.

In this book we examine how small cities can combine resources, meaning, and creativity to realize their dreams and make themselves better places.

### Outline of the Volume

This book is based on over 25 years of placemaking and city-marketing expertise. It moves from the concrete local example of one small city ('s-Hertogenbosch) to draw lessons at a global level. It is aimed at smaller places, rather than concentrating on larger cities with richer resource bases and larger talent pools. It challenges conventional placemaking models by developing a more holistic approach to urban development,

which links vision, governance, and process to open new strategic possibilities to transform places in ways that improve the well-being of local people. It attempts to shift the focus of discussion about placemaking from small-scale material interventions to ambitious programmes based on the use of tangible and intangible resources.

The book moves progressively through the process of placemaking and place branding in small cities, setting out the main elements of placemaking practice and providing examples of small cities that have done big things.

In the second chapter we look at the essential building blocks of place – the resources, both tangible and intangible, that cities can draw on to build their dreams. When you don't have much, you need to be more creative with what you do have. Many small cities have been successful in mobilizing resources to stimulate development and change. In the past, many small cities have tried to "borrow size" from their larger neighbours, but we argue it may be better to "create size". This means looking outside the city to mobilize resources and people, exporting the dream – creating a mission, and therefore a reason for the small city to achieve big things.

The process of collaborative placemaking is outlined in Chapter 3. In a globalizing world, new strategies are needed to gather and retain the support of an increasingly complex range of stakeholder groups. How can people be persuaded to put their energies into the placemaking process? What strategies can a city adopt to take it forward over a period of 10, 20, 30 years and keep the stakeholders on board? Collaboration is analysed as an essential skill that small cities need to learn and perfect in a competitive world. Finding the right partners and keeping them on board is an art that requires creating shared interests – convincing people to ask not only 'What can the city do for me?" but also "What can I do for the city?" These discussions underline the importance of connections, and of building networks for creativity.

Once collaborations have been built, structures need to be put in place to guide the process. The art of getting things done is the focus of Chapter 4. We examine the need to develop relationships and networks to gather resources, and how stakeholders can be persuaded to participate. The networks developed by 's-Hertogenbosch and other cities have proved crucial in helping them to achieve things they could not do alone. This chapter considers the principle of "network value" applied to smaller cities, and argues that the city needs to develop a position for itself in the world and the networks it joins and creates.

Chapter 5 deals with issues of governance. Attention is paid to the shift from government to governance and facilitation, and how the city can identify those aspects of development it can influence. The use of different governance models, and the creation of arm's-length bodies to develop programmes, are discussed. We also consider how governance

models work in different political and cultural contexts, drawing on cases from different parts of the world.

The importance of branding and storytelling is the focus of Chapter 6, which examines how to use the DNA of the city to develop new stories and icons to attract attention and mobilize stakeholders. To succeed in this, we also argue that small cities need to take risks. The small "opportunistic city" is not an irresponsible city, but one that takes calculated risks to capitalize on the opportunities it can create.

A programme makes little sense unless it benefits the city. Chapter 7 examines the impacts and effects of programmes, asking what the city stands to gain, and also what are the potential costs of getting it wrong. In the case of 's-Hertogenbosch, the celebrations of the 500th anniversary of Hieronymus Bosch (the Bosch500 programme) brought 1,400,000 people to the city, created over €150 million in direct spend impact, and generated almost €50 million in national and international media value. This has put the city on the global map, created confidence in it, and boosted the ambition level of stakeholders. But the "soft" benefits - including increased social cohesion and local pride - are perhaps even more significant. These are important political considerations in terms of the effects of the 2016 programme, and also in ensuring that the support for such projects continues in the long term. We also consider what smaller places need to invest in the placemaking effort, and whether the effects are more lasting, widespread, and equitable than those of other strategies – such the icon-building efforts often found in major cities.

Chapter 8 looks at the question of investment. Good placemaking takes time, perseverance, and money. How can cities gather the resources required for a good story, develop a high level of ambition, and attain important goals? The 500th anniversary of the death of Hieronymus Bosch was a golden opportunity for the city of 's-Hertogenbosch, which needed an intelligent marketing strategy, a brand, and a new vision of the future for an old city. Building the coalitions to support the vision took ten years – a marathon instead of a sprint. Keeping the momentum going was a major challenge, particularly given the short attention span and impatience of politicians, residents, and the media.

The final chapter draws lessons from the experience of 's-Hertogenbosch, identifying the key success factors as well as the pitfalls. How do you get the placemaking model to work? What are the most important keys to success? In the case of 's-Hertogenbosch, political will and long-term vision, the development and embedding of a storyline in the city, and collaboration with a wide network of partners were all crucial factors. The experience of 's-Hertogenbosch also shows that the time required can also be one of the major pitfalls. Although such events provide a sense of urgency and catalysing effect, the preparation phase is fraught with difficulty.



Photo 1.2 National New Year's concert by the Dutch Wind Ensemble dedicated to Hieronymus Bosch (photo: Lian Duif).

### How Is This Book Different?

The recent wave of academic studies on small cities shows the growing interest in these places. Most previous studies have been based on aggregated analyses of empirical data or snapshots of individual cities. This book is different, because it is grounded in a rich case of a single city observed over time, which in turn is linked to a range of other small city cases around the world.

We focus on the "how" of placemaking: what skills, resources and knowledge are required to make a small city stand out in a global market? And we follow the placemaking process over the long term, drawing on personal experience and primary research data, rather than just considering the end result. Cities should be seen in terms not just of what

they have, but also of what they can become. In this process-oriented approach, we pay more attention to the soft infrastructure of small cities, the networks that they can harness to gather more resources, and we underline the need to look at outputs, such as increased quality of life, or equality, rather than inputs.

Big cities, rich with opportunities for contacts and employment, can be congested, cold, lonely places; small cities, with their human scale and ready access to open spaces, can be stultifying. Each should be respected for its advantages as well as its disadvantages. The question is not whether big or small cities are better, but rather how we can make both better places to live in. There has been much attention paid to larger cities; in this book we try to outline some possibilities for smaller cities. We also highlight some of the things that big cities can learn from their smaller counterparts.

In doing so, we also try and address some of the weaknesses in previous analyses. These include looking at size as a state of mind, rather than just a question of population. Studies of agglomeration advantages or the amenity growth paradigm often lack theoretical understanding of the dynamics of economic, social, and industrial structures in the growth and decline of cities. As Chen and Bacon (2013) noted in the case of Hartford, Connecticut, smaller cities have become "detached from theory", problematizing the generalization of urban models and ideas.

Urban theories usually predict the demise of the small city; so why do these places persist and, more importantly, succeed? How do we account for the relative success of some small cities? This book provides an analysis of successful small cities, and looks at the strategies they have developed. As our placemaking framework suggests, this requires ambition, having a big dream to follow, and also making effective use of the resources that the city can muster on its own, or obtain through partnership and networking. This strategy should be consistent with the DNA of the city, which can give meaning to its programmes for locals and outsiders.

#### References

Afdeling Onderzoek & Statistiek (2017). Eindevaluatie manifestatie Jheronimus Bosch 500. 's-Hertogenbosch: Gemeente 's-Hertogenbosch.

Ajuntament de Barcelona (2004). *B Communicates*. Barcelona: Ajuntament de Barcelona/ACTAR.

Albouy, D., Behrens, K., Robert-Nicoud, F., and Seegert, M. (2015). *Efficient and Equilibrium Population Levels Across Cities: Are Cities Ever Too Small?* International Growth Center Cities Conference, 2 May 2015.

Alonso, W. (1973). Urban Zero Population Growth. Daedalus 102: 191-206.

Amabile, T. M. (2012). Componential Theory of Creativity. *Harvard Business School Working Paper* 12–096.

- Atlantic City Lab (2012). U.S. Urban Population Is Up... But What Does "Urban" Really Mean? www.citylab.com/equity/2012/03/us-urban-population-whatdoes-urban-really-mean/1589/
- Baker, B. (2007). Destination Branding for Small Cities. Portland, Ore.: Creative Leap Books.
- Bell, D., and Jayne, M. (2006). Small Cities: Urban Experience Beyond the Metropolis. London: Routledge.
- Bell, D., and Jayne, M. (2009). Small Cities? Towards a Research Agenda. International Journal of Urban and Regional Research 33(3): 683-99.
- Bell, P. (2017). What Can Big Cities Learn from Small Cities? Cities Digest, 19 July: www.citiesdigest.com/2017/07/19/can-big-cities-learn-small-cities/
- Bernstein, A., and McCarthy, J. (2005). Thinking Big in Small Town SA. Business Day, 5 Aug., 15.
- Capel, H. (2009). Las pequeñas ciudades en la urbanización generalizada y ante la crisis global. *Investigaciones geográficas* 70: 7–32.
- Castells, M. (1996). The Network Society. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Castells, M. (2009). Communication Power. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Chen, X., and Bacon, N. (2013). Confronting Urban Legacy: Rediscovering Hartford and New England's Forgotten Cities. Lanham, Md.: Lexington Books.
- Connolly, J. J. (2012). After the Factory: Reinventing America's Industrial Small Cities. Lanham, Md.: Lexington Books.
- Daniels, T., Keller, J., Lapping, M., Daniels, K., and Segedy, J. (2007). The Small Town Planning Handbook, 3rd edn. Chicago: APA Planners Press.
- David, Q., Peeters, D., Van Hamme, G., and Vandermotten, C. (2013). Is Bigger Better? Economic Performance of European Cities, 1960-1990. Cities 35: 237–54.
- Dekker, T. den, and Tabbers, M. (2012). From Creative Crowds to Creative Tourism: A Search for Creative Tourism in Small and Medium Sized Cities. Journal of Tourism Consumption and Practice 4(2): 129–32.
- Denis-Jacob, J. (2012). Cultural Industries in Small-Sized Canadian Cities: Dream or Reality? *Urban Studies* 49(1): 97–114.
- Dijkstra L., Garcilazo, E., and McCann, P. (2013). The Economic Performance of European Cities and City Regions: Myths and Realities. European Planning Studies 21: 334-54.
- Dikeman, R. A. (2016). Making Things Better: Dan Brooks' Thirty Years as a Small-City Mayor. Cincinnati, O.: Public Library of Cincinnati and Hamilton County.
- Dix, G. (1986). Small Cities in the World System. *Habitat International* 10(1–2): 273 - 82.
- Eshuis, J., Klijn, E.-H., and Braun, E. (2014). Place Marketing and Citizen Participation: Branding as Strategy to Address the Emotional Dimension of Policy Making? International Review of Administrative Sciences 80(1): 151-71.
- Evans, G., and Foord, J. (2006). Small Cities for a Small Country: Sustaining the Cultural Renaissance? In D. Bell and M. Jayne (eds), Small Cities: Urban Experience Beyond the Metropolis, 151–68. London: Routledge.
- Florida, R. (2017). Why America's Richest Cities Keep Getting Richer. The Atlantic, 12 Apr. www.theatlantic.com/business/archive/2017/04/richardflorida-winner-take-all
- Franklin, A. (2014). *The Making of MONA*. Melbourne: Penguin Books.

- Fuchs, M., and Baggio, R. (2017). Creativity and Tourism Networks: A Contribution to a Post-Mechanistic Economic Theory. Critical Tourism Studies Conference, Palma de Mallorca, Spain, 25–9 June.
- Garretsen, H., and Marlet, G. (2017). Amenities and the Attraction of Dutch Cities. *Regional Studies* 51(5): 724–36.
- Garrett-Petts, W. F. (2005). The Small Cities Book: On the Cultural Future of Small Cities. Vancouver: New Star Books.
- Gehl, J. (2010). Cities for People. Washington, DC: Island Press.
- Giffinger, R., Fertner, C., Kramar, H., and Meijers, E. (2007). City-Ranking of European Medium-Sized Cities. Centre of Regional Science, Vienna University of Technology. www.smart-cities.eu/download/city\_ranking\_final.pdf
- Giffinger, R., Kramar, H., and Haindl, G. (2008). The Role of Rankings in Growing City Competition. In *Proceedings of the 11th European Urban Research Association* (EURA) Conference, Milan, Italy, 9–11 Oct. http://publik.tuwien.ac.at/files/PubDat\_167218.pdf
- Harvey, D. (2006). Spaces of Global Capitalism: Towards a Theory of Uneven Geographical Development. London: Verso.
- Hesseldahl, P. (2017). WE-Economy: Beyond the Industrial Logic. http://we-economy.net/what-is-the-we-economy/the-book/
- Jayne, M., Gibson, C., Waitt, G., and Bell, D. (2010). The Cultural Economy of Small Cities. *Geography Compass* 4(9): 1408–17.
- Kotkin, J. (2012). Small Cities Are Becoming New Engine of Economic Growth. www.forbes.com/sites/joelkotkin/2012/05/08/small-cities-are-becoming-themain-engine-of-economic-growth/#ac5c9cd5fb5f
- Kourtit, K., Nijkamp, P., and Geyer, H. S. (2015). Managing the Urban Century. *International Planning Studies* 20(1–2): 1–3.
- Kresl, P. K., and Ietri, D. (2016). *Smaller Cities in a World of Competitiveness*. London: Routledge.
- Laborie, J. P. (1979). Les Petites Villes. Paris: Éditions CNRS.
- Landry, C. (2015). Cities of Ambition. http://charleslandry.com/blog/cities-of-ambition/
- Lee, N., and Rodríguez-Pose, A. (2015). Innovation in Creative Cities: Challenging the Established Views. http://voxeu.org/article/innovation-and-creative-cities-new-evidence
- Lefebvre, H. (1991). The Production of Space. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Lewis, N. M. and Donald, B. (2009). A New Rubric for "Creative City" Potential in Canada's Smaller Cities. *Urban Studies* 47(1): 29–54.
- Lorentzen, A., and van Heur, B. (eds) (2012). Cultural Political Economy of Small Cities. London: Routledge.
- Lorenzen, M., and Andersen, K. V. (2007). The Geography of the European Creative Class: A Rank-Size Analysis. DRUID Working Paper No. 07–17. www3.druid.dk/wp/20070017.pdf (accessed 9 Feb. 2017)
- Marano, T. E. (2005). Staying Small by Thinking Big: Growth Management Strategies for Small Towns. *Economic Development Journal* 4(3), 1–9. www.cedas.org/Customer-Content/WWW/News/PDFs/stayingsmall\_marano.pdf
- Marlet, G. (2016). De opkomst van de oude stad. TPEdigitaal 10(2): 75-88.
- Material Times (2013). The Future of Cities: Think Small Because Small Is the New Big. www.materialtimes.com/en/what-matters/the-future-of-citiesbrthink-small-because-small-is-the-new-big.html

- McKnight, S. (2017). Think Big, Plan Small, Team Up. www.evolveea.com/work/think-big-plan-small-team-up
- Meijers, E. (2008). Summing Small Cities Does Not Make a Large City: Polycentric Urban Regions and the Provision of Cultural, Leisure and Sports Amenities. *Urban Studies* 45(11): 2323–42.
- Montalto, V., Moura, C., Langedijk, S., and Saisana M. (2017). *The Cultural and Creative Cities Monitor:* 2017 Edition. Brussels: European Commission.
- Montgomery, C. (2013). Happy City: Transforming Our Lives Through Urban Design. New York: Farrar, Straus & Giroux.
- Norman, J. R. (2013). Small Cities USA: Growth, Diversity, and Inequality. New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press.
- Ofori-Amoah, B. (2006). Beyond the Metropolis: Urban Geography as if Small Cities Mattered. Lanham, Md.: University Press of America.
- Okulicz-Kozaryn, A. (2017). Unhappy Metropolis (When American City Is Too Big). *Cities* 61: 144–55.
- Oliver, J. E. (2000). City Size and Civic Involvement in Metropolitan America. *American Political Science Review* 94(2): 361–73.
- Planetizen (2016). Top 20 Urban Planning Books (Of All Time). www.planetizen.com/books/20
- Potts, J., Cunningham, S., Hartley, J., and Ormerod, P. (2008). Social Network Markets: A New Definition of the Creative Industries. *Journal of Cultural Economics* 32(3): 167–85.
- Power, A. (2016). Cities for a Small Continent: International Handbook of City Recovery. Bristol: Policy Press.
- Pratt, A. C. (2008). Creative Cities? *Urban Design Journal* 105. http://openaccess.city.ac.uk/6697/1/Pratt\_2008\_CreativeCities\_UrbanDesignJ.pdf
- Reckwitz, A. (2002). Toward a Theory of Social Practices: A Development in Culturalist Theorizing. *European Journal of Social Theory* 5(2): 243–63.
- Renn, A. M. (2013). The Tough Realities Facing Smaller Post-Industrial Cities. www.urbanophile.com/2013/11/03/the-tough-realities-facing-smaller-post-industrial-cities/
- Richman, S. M. (2010). Reconsidering Trenton: The Small City in the Post-Industrial Age. Jefferson, NC: McFarland.
- Schatzki, T. (2010). Materiality and Social Life. *Nature and Culture* 5(2): 12–149. Shove, E., Pantzar, M., and Watson, M. (2012). *The Dynamics of Social Practice: Everyday Life and How It Changes*. London: Sage.
- Spaargaren, G., Weenink, D., and Lamers, M. (eds) (2016). *Practice Theory and Research: Exploring the Dynamics of Social Life*. London: Routledge.
- Taylor, P. J. (2013). Extraordinary Cities: Millennia of Moral Syndromes, World-Systems and City/State Relations. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Tourdust (2015). Paris of the East, Venice of the North: Cities That Don't Know Their Place. www.tourdust.com/blog/posts/paris-of-the-east-venice-of-the-north-where-will-it-end
- United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division (2014). World Urbanization Prospects: The 2014 Revision (CD-ROM edn).
- van Heur, B. (2012). Small Cities and the Sociospatial Specificity of Economic Development: A Heuristic Approach. In A. Lorentzen and B. van Heur (eds), *Cultural Political Economy of Small Cities*, 17–30. London: Routledge.

- Véron, R. (2010). Small Cities, Neoliberal Governance and Sustainable Development in the Global South: A Conceptual Framework and Research Agenda. Sustainability 2(9): 2833–48.
- Waitt, G., and Gibson, C. (2009). Creative Small Cities: Rethinking the Creative Economy in Place. *Urban Studies* 46(5–6): 1223–46.
- Walmsley, C., and Kading, T. (2017). Small Cities, Big Issues: Reconceiving Community in Neoliberal Era. Washington, DC: University of Washington Press.
- Wuthnow, R. (2013). Small-Town America: Finding Community, Shaping the Future. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

## Small Cities, Big Challenges

Afdeling Onderzoek & Statistiek (2017). Eindevaluatie manifestatie Jheronimus Bosch 500. s-Hertogenbosch: Gemeente s-Hertogenbosch.

Ajuntament de Barcelona (2004). B Communicates. Barcelona: Ajuntament de Barcelona/ACTAR.

Albouy, D., Behrens, K., Robert-Nicoud, F., and Seegert, M. (2015). Efficient and Equilibrium Population Levels Across Cities: Are Cities Ever Too Small? International Growth Center Cities Conference, 2 May 2015.

Alonso, W. (1973). Urban Zero Population Growth. Daedalus 102: 191206.

Amabile, T. M. (2012). Componential Theory of Creativity. Harvard Business School Working Paper 12096.26

Atlantic City Lab (2012), U.S. Urban Population Is Up But What Does Urban Really Mean? www.citylab.com/equity/2012/03/us-urban-population-what-does-urban-really-mean/1589/ Baker, B. (2007). Destination Branding for Small Cities. Portland, Ore.: Creative Leap Books. Bell, D., and Jayne, M. (2006). Small Cities: Urban Experience Beyond the Metropolis.

London: Routledge.

Bell, D., and Jayne, M. (2009), Small Cities? Towards a Research Agenda, International Journal of Urban and Regional Research 33(3): 683699.

Bell, P. (2017). What Can Big Cities Learn from Small Cities? Cities Digest, 19 July: www.citiesdigest.com/2017/07/19/can-big-cities-learn-small-cities/

Bernstein, A., and McCarthy, J. (2005). Thinking Big in Small Town SA. Business Day, 5 Aug., 15.

Capel, H. (2009). Las pequeas ciudades en la urbanizacin generalizada y ante la crisis global. Investigaciones geogrificas 70: 732.

Castells, M. (1996). The Network Society. Oxford: Blackwell.

Castells, M. (2009). Communication Power. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Chen, X., and Bacon, N. (2013). Confronting Urban Legacy: Rediscovering Hartford and New Englands Forgotten Cities. Lanham, Md.: Lexington Books.

Connolly, J. J. (2012). After the Factory: Reinventing Americas Industrial Small Cities. Lanham, Md.: Lexington Books.

Daniels, T., Keller, J., Lapping, M., Daniels, K., and Segedy, J. (2007). The Small Town Planning Handbook, 3rd edn. Chicago: APA Planners Press.

David, Q., Peeters, D., Van Hamme, G., and Vandermotten, C. (2013). Is Bigger Better? Economic Performance of European Cities, 19601990. Cities 35: 237254.

Dekker, T. den, and Tabbers, M. (2012). From Creative Crowds to Creative Tourism: A Search for Creative Tourism in Small and Medium Sized Cities. Journal of Tourism Consumption and Practice 4(2): 129132.

Denis-Jacob, J. (2012). Cultural Industries in Small-Sized Canadian Cities: Dream or Reality? Urban Studies 49(1): 97114.

Dijkstra L., Garcilazo, E., and McCann, P. (2013). The Economic Performance of European Cities and City Regions: Myths and Realities. European Planning Studies 21: 334354. Dikeman, R. A. (2016). Making Things Better: Dan Brooks Thirty Years as a Small-City

Mayor. Cincinnati, O.: Public Library of Cincinnati and Hamilton County.

Dix, G. (1986). Small Cities in the World System. Habitat International 10(12): 273282.

Eshuis, J., Klijn, E.-H., and Braun, E. (2014). Place Marketing and Citizen Participation: Branding as Strategy to Address the Emotional Dimension of Policy Making? International Review of Administrative Sciences 80(1): 151171.

Evans, G., and Foord, J. (2006). Small Cities for a Small Country: Sustaining the Cultural Renaissance? In D. Bell and M. Jayne (eds), Small Cities: Urban Experience Beyond the Metropolis, 151168. London: Routledge.

Florida, R. (2017). Why Americas Richest Cities Keep Getting Richer. The Atlantic, 12 Apr. www.theatlantic.com/business/archive/2017/04/richard-florida-winner-take-all

Franklin, A. (2014). The Making of MONA. Melbourne: Penguin Books.27

Fuchs, M., and Baggio, R. (2017). Creativity and Tourism Networks: A Contribution to a Post-Mechanistic Economic Theory. Critical Tourism Studies Conference, Palma de Mallorca, Spain, 259 June.

Garretsen, H., and Marlet, G. (2017). Amenities and the Attraction of Dutch Cities. Regional Studies 51(5): 724736.

Garrett-Petts, W. F. (2005). The Small Cities Book: On the Cultural Future of Small Cities. Vancouver: New Star Books.

Gehl, J. (2010). Cities for People. Washington, DC: Island Press.

Giffinger, R., Fertner, C., Kramar, H., and Meijers, E. (2007). City-Ranking of European Medium-Sized Cities. Centre of Regional Science, Vienna University of Technology.

www.smart-cities.eu/download/city\_ranking\_final.pdf

Giffinger, R., Kramar, H., and Haindl, G. (2008). The Role of Rankings in Growing City Competition. In Proceedings of the 11th European Urban Research Association (EURA) Conference, Milan, Italy, 911 Oct. http://publik.tuwien.ac.at/files/PubDat\_167218.pdf

Harvey, D. (2006). Spaces of Global Capitalism: Towards a Theory of Uneven Geographical Development. London: Verso.

Hesseldahl, P. (2017). WE-Economy: Beyond the Industrial Logic. http://we-economy.net/what-is-the-we-economy/the-book/

Jayne, M., Gibson, C., Waitt, G., and Bell, D. (2010). The Cultural Economy of Small Cities. Geography Compass 4(9): 14081417.

Kotkin, J. (2012). Small Cities Are Becoming New Engine of Economic Growth.

www.forbes.com/sites/joelkotkin/2012/05/08/small-cities-are-becoming-the-main-engine-of-economic-growth/#ac5c9cd5fb5f

Kourtit, K., Nijkamp, P., and Geyer, H. S. (2015). Managing the Urban Century. International Planning Studies 20(12): 13.

Kresl, P. K., and letri, D. (2016). Smaller Cities in a World of Competitiveness. London: Routledge.

Laborie, J. P. (1979). Les Petites Villes. Paris: ditions CNRS.

Landry, C. (2015). Cities of Ambition. http://charleslandry.com/blog/cities-of-ambition/Lee, N., and Rodrguez-Pose, A. (2015). Innovation in Creative Cities: Challenging the Established Views. http://voxeu.org/article/innovation-and-creative-cities-new-evidence Lefebvre, H. (1991). The Production of Space. Oxford: Blackwell.

Lewis, N. M. and Donald, B. (2009). A New Rubric for Creative City Potential in Canadas Smaller Cities. Urban Studies 47(1): 2954.

Lorentzen, A., and van Heur, B. (eds) (2012). Cultural Political Economy of Small Cities. London: Routledge.

Lorenzen, M., and Andersen, K. V. (2007). The Geography of the European Creative Class: A Rank-Size Analysis. DRUID Working Paper No. 0717. www3.druid.dk/wp/20070017.pdf (accessed 9 Feb. 2017)

Marano, T. E. (2005). Staying Small by Thinking Big: Growth Management Strategies for Small Towns. Economic Development Journal 4(3), 19. www.cedas.org/Customer-Content/WWW/News/PDFs/stayingsmall marano.pdf

Marlet, G. (2016). De opkomst van de oude stad. TPEdigitaal 10(2): 7588.

Material Times (2013). The Future of Cities: Think Small Because Small Is the New Big. www.materialtimes.com/en/what-matters/the-future-of-citiesbrthink-small-because-small-is-the-new-big.html 28

McKnight, S. (2017). Think Big, Plan Small, Team Up. www.evolveea.com/work/think-big-plan-small-team-up

Meijers, E. (2008). Summing Small Cities Does Not Make a Large City: Polycentric Urban Regions and the Provision of Cultural, Leisure and Sports Amenities. Urban Studies 45(11): 23232342.

Montalto, V. , Moura, C. , Langedijk, S. , and Saisana M. (2017). The Cultural and Creative Cities Monitor: 2017 Edition. Brussels: European Commission.

Montgomery, C. (2013). Happy City: Transforming Our Lives Through Urban Design. New York: Farrar, Straus & Giroux.

Norman, J. R. (2013). Small Cities USA: Growth, Diversity, and Inequality. New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press.

Ofori-Amoah, B. (2006). Beyond the Metropolis: Urban Geography as if Small Cities Mattered. Lanham, Md.: University Press of America.

Okulicz-Kozaryn, A. (2017). Unhappy Metropolis (When American City Is Too Big) . Cities 61: 144155.

Oliver, J. E. (2000). City Size and Civic Involvement in Metropolitan America. American Political Science Review 94(2): 361373.

Planetizen (2016). Top 20 Urban Planning Books (Of All Time). www.planetizen.com/books/20

Potts, J., Cunningham, S., Hartley, J., and Ormerod, P. (2008). Social Network Markets: A New Definition of the Creative Industries. Journal of Cultural Economics 32(3): 167185. Power, A. (2016). Cities for a Small Continent: International Handbook of City Recovery.

Bristol: Policy Press.

Pratt, A. C. (2008). Creative Cities? Urban Design Journal 105.

http://openaccess.city.ac.uk/6697/1/Pratt 2008 CreativeCities UrbanDesignJ.pdf

Reckwitz, A. (2002). Toward a Theory of Social Practices: A Development in Culturalist Theorizing. European Journal of Social Theory 5(2): 243263.

Renn, A. M. (2013). The Tough Realities Facing Smaller Post-Industrial Cities.

www.urbanophile.com/2013/11/03/the-tough-realities-facing-smaller-post-industrial-cities/Richman, S. M. (2010). Reconsidering Trenton: The Small City in the Post-Industrial Age. Jefferson, NC: McFarland.

Schatzki, T. (2010). Materiality and Social Life. Nature and Culture 5(2): 12149.

Shove, E., Pantzar, M., and Watson, M. (2012). The Dynamics of Social Practice: Everyday Life and How It Changes. London: Sage.

Spaargaren, G., Weenink, D., and Lamers, M. (eds) (2016). Practice Theory and Research: Exploring the Dynamics of Social Life. London: Routledge.

Taylor, P. J. (2013). Extraordinary Cities: Millennia of Moral Syndromes, World-Systems and City/State Relations. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.

Tourdust (2015). Paris of the East, Venice of the North: Cities That Dont Know Their Place. www.tourdust.com/blog/posts/paris-of-the-east-venice-of-the-north-where-will-it-end United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division (2014).

World Urbanization Prospects: The 2014 Revision (CD-ROM edn).

van Heur, B. (2012). Small Cities and the Sociospatial Specificity of Economic Development: A Heuristic Approach. In A. Lorentzen and B. van Heur (eds), Cultural Political Economy of Small Cities, 1730. London: Routledge.29

Vron, R. (2010). Small Cities, Neoliberal Governance and Sustainable Development in the Global South: A Conceptual Framework and Research Agenda. Sustainability 2(9): 28332848.

Waitt, G. , and Gibson, C. (2009). Creative Small Cities: Rethinking the Creative Economy in Place. Urban Studies 46(56): 12231246.

Walmsley, C., and Kading, T. (2017). Small Cities, Big Issues: Reconceiving Community in Neoliberal Era. Washington, DC: University of Washington Press.

Wuthnow, R. (2013). Small-Town America: Finding Community, Shaping the Future. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

# Creating Opportunities with Limited Resources

Adema, P. (2010). Garlic Capital of the World: Gilroy, Garlic, and the Making of a Festive Foodscape. Jackson: University Press of Mississippi.

Agterberg, N. (2015). The Social Network of the Bosch Parade. Dissertation in International Leisure Management, NHTV Breda.

Amin, A. (2008). Collective Culture and Urban Public Space. City 12(1): 524.

Bayfield, H. (2015). Mobilising Manchester through the Manchester International Festival: Whose City, Whose Culture? An Exploration of the Representation of Cities through Cultural Events. PhD thesis, University of Sheffield.

Bellini, N. , and Pasquinelli, Ć. (2017). Tourism in the City: Towards an Integrative Agenda on Urban Tourism. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International Press.

Bnisch, P., Haug, P., Illy, A., and Schreier, L. (2011). Municipality Size and Efficiency of Local Public Services: Does Size Matter? IWH Discussion Paper no. 18/2011. http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:101:1-201112215432

Brabazon, T. (2014). Go to Darwin and Starve, Ya Bastard: Theorizing the Decline of Third Tier Cities. www.uta.edu/huma/agger/fastcapitalism/11\_1/home.html

Brabazon, T. (2015). Unique Urbanity? Rethinking Third Tier Cities, Degeneration, Regeneration and Mobility. Singapore: Springer.

Brouder, P. (2012). Creative Outposts: Tourisms Place in Rural Innovation. Tourism Planning & Development 9(4): 383396.

Bucci, A., Sacco, P. L., and Segre, G. (2014). Smart Endogenous Growth: Cultural Capital and the Creative Use of Skills. International Journal of Manpower 35(1/2): 3355.

Campos, R. (2017). On Urban (In)Visibilities. In J. Hannigan and G. Richards (eds), The SAGE Handbook of New Urban Studies, 232249. London: SAGE.

Caragliu, A. , Del Bo , C., and Nijkamp, P. (2011). Smart Cities in Europe. Journal of Urban Technology 18(2): 6582.

Clark, T. N. (2003). Urban AmenitiesLakes, Opera, and Juice Bars: Do They Drive Development? In Terry Nichols Clark (ed.), The City as an Entertainment Machine, 103140. Bingley, UK: Emerald.

Cohendet, P., Grandadam, D., and Simon, L. (2010). The Anatomy of the Creative City. Industry & Innovation 17: 91111.

Colombo, A. , and Richards, G. (2017). Eventful Cities as Global Innovation Catalysts: The Snar Festival Network. Event Management 21(5): 621634.61

Comunian, R. (2016). Temporary Clusters and Communities of Practice in the Creative Economy: Festivals as Temporary Knowledge Networks. Space and Culture 20: 329343.

Comunian, R., Chapain, C., and Clifton, N. (2010). Location, Location, Location: Exploring the Complex Relationship between Creative Industries and Place. Creative Industries Journal 3(1): 510.

Crespi-Vallbona, M., and Richards, G. (2007). The Meaning of Cultural Festivals: Stakeholder Perspectives. International Journal of Cultural Policy 27: 103122.

Della Lucia, M., Trunfio, M., and Go, F. M. (2017). Heritage and Urban Regeneration: Towards Creative Tourism. In N. Bellini and C. Pasquinelli (eds), Tourism in the City: Towards an Integrative Agenda on Urban Tourism, 179192. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International.

EPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency) (2015). How Small Towns and Cities Can Use Local Assets to Rebuild Their Economies: Lessons from Successful Places. Washington, DC: EPA.

European Commission, Directorate General for Regional Policy (2011). Cities of Tomorrow: Challenges, Visions, Ways Forward. Luxembourg: European Union.

European Commission (2016). Quality of Life in European Cities 2015. FLASH

EUROBAROMETER 419. Brussels: European Commission Directorate-General for Regional and Urban Policy.

Ferilli, G. , Sacco, P. L. , and Noda, K. (2015). Culture Driven Policies and Revaluation of Local Cultural Assets: A Tale of Two Cities, Otaru and Ybari. City, Culture and Society 6(4): 135143.

Florida, R. (2002). The Rise of the Creative Class: And How Its Transforming Work, Leisure, Community, and Everyday Life. New York: Basic Books.

Florida, R. (2009), Town, Gown, and Unemployment.

www.creativeclass.com/ v3/creative class/tag/bureau-of-labor-statistics/

Foley, M., McGillivray, D., and McPherson, G. (2012). Event Policy: From Theory to Strategy. London: Routledge.

Fox, T. , and Rampton, J. (2015). Ex-post Evaluation of the European Capitals of Culture 2014. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.

Franklin, A. (2014). The Making of MONA. Melbourne: Penguin.

Franklin, A. , and Papastegiadis, N. (2017). Engaging with the Anti-museum? Visitors to the Museum of Old and New Art. Journal of Sociology:

https://doi.org/10.1177/1440783317712866

Gibson, C. R. (2010). Place Making: Mapping Culture, Creating Places: Collisions of Science and Art. Local-Global: Identity, Security, Community 7: 6683.

Giffinger, R., Fertner, C., Kramar, H., and Meijers, E. (2008). City-Ranking of European Medium-Sized Cities. Centre of Regional Science, Vienna University of Technology. www.srf.tuwien.ac.at/kramar/publikationen/IFHP2007.pdf

www.sii.tuwieii.ac.avkiaiiiai/publikatioiieii/iFi iF 2007.p

Gospodini, A. (2001). Urban Waterfront Redevelopment in Greek Cities: A Framework for Redesigning Space. Cities 18(5): 285295.

Helsinki This Week (2017). Restaurant Day. https://helsinkithisweek.com/events/restaurant-day2015

Hommells, A. (2005). Studying Obduracy in the City: Toward a Productive Fusion between Technology Studies and Urban Studies. Science, Technology & Human Values 30: 323351.62

Kraft, S. E. (2006). Place Making, Mega Events and Ritual Effervescence: A Case Study of the Nelson Mandela Concert in Troms, 11th June 2005. Temenos 42(2): 4364.

Kresl, P. K., and letri, D. (2016). Smaller Cities in a World of Competitiveness. London: Routledge.

League of Minnesota Cities (2013). Cities Using Volunteers: Analysis and Case Studies. /www.lmc.org/media/document/1/sotc13\_volunteers.pdf?inline=true

Leary-Owhin, M. E. (2016). Exploring the Production of Urban Space: Differential Space in Three Post-Industrial Cities. Bristol: Policy Press.

Lin, M., and Dong, E. (2017). Place Construction and Public Space: Cantonese Opera as Leisure in the Urban Parks of Guangzhou, China. Leisure Studies,

DOI:10.1080/02614367.2017.1341544

Lorentzen, A., and van Heur, B. (2012). Cultural Political Economy of Small Cities. London: Routledge.

Low, S. M. (2000). On the Plaza: The Politics of Public Space and Culture. Austin: University of Texas Press.

Low, S. M., and Smith, N. (2006). The Politics of Public Space. London: Routledge.

Madanipour, A. (1999). Why Are the Design and Development of Public Spaces Significant for Cities? Environment and Planning B: Planning and Design 26(6): 879891.

Magnani, J. G. C. (2006). Urban Youth Circuits in So Paulo. Tempo Social 17(2): 173205.

Manchester International Festival (2017). About Us. http://mif.co.uk/about-us/

Marques, L., and Richards, G. (2014). Creative Districts Around The World.

http://creativedistricts.imem.nl/

McConnachie, M. M., and Shackleton, C. M. (2010). Public Green Space Inequality in Small Towns in South Africa. Habitat International 34(2): 244248.

Meijers, E. J., Burger, M. J., and Hoogerbrugge, M. M. (2016). Borrowing Size in Networks of Cities: City Size, Network Connectivity and Metropolitan Functions in Europe. Regional Science 95(1): 181198.

Miles, M. (1997). Art, Space and the City. London: Routledge.

Montalto, V., Moura, C., Langedijk, S., and Saisana M. (2017). The Cultural and Creative Cities Monitor: 2017 Edition. Brussels: European Commission.

Montgomery, J. (1998). Making a City: Urbanity, Vitality and Urban Design, Journal of Urban Design 3(1): 93116.

Nsholm, M. H., and Blomquist, T. (2015). Urban Strategies for Culture-Driven Growth: Co-Creating a European Capital of Culture. International Journal of Managing Projects in Business, 8(1), 5873.

Nmeth, . (2016). European Capitals of Culture: Digging Deeper into the Governance of the Mega-event. Territory, Politics, Governance 4(1): 5274.

Nesta (2016). Cities of Service UK: Capturing the Skills and Energy of Volunteers to Address City Challenges. London: Nesta.

OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development) (2009). The Impact of Culture on Tourism. Paris: OECD.

OECD (2013). Innovation-Driven Growth in Regions: The Role of Smart Specialisation. Paris: OECD.

Oosterbaan, M. (2009). Sonic Supremacy: Sound, Space and Charisma in a Favela in Rio de Janeiro. Critique of Anthropology 29(1): 81104.63

OToole, W. (2011). Events Feasibility and Development: From Strategy to Operations. Oxford: Elsevier.

Parrillo, A. J. , and de Socio, M. (2014). Universities and Hospitals as Agents of Economic Stability and Growth in Small Cities: A Comparative Analysis. Industrial Geographer 11: 128.

Pearce, E. (2015). Our Secret. Paper presented at MONA EFFECT 4: Regenerating City and Region through Art Tourism? 18 Sept. 2015, Hobart.

Planetizen (2016). www.planetizen.com/node/78437/how-cities-grow-big-not-how-big-cities-grow

Plger, J. (2007). Bilbao City Report. Centre for Analysis of Social Exclusion, report 43. http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/3624/1/Bilbao\_city\_report\_(final).pdf

Plger, J. (2010). Presence-Experiences: The Eventalisation of Urban Space. Environment and Planning D: Society and Space 28(5): 848866.

Podest, M., and Richards, G. (2017). Creating Knowledge Spillovers through Knowledge Based Festivals: The Case of Mantua. Journal of Policy Research in Tourism, Leisure and Events: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/19407963.2017.1344244

Ponzini, D., Fotev, S., and Mavaracchio, F. (2016). Place-Making or Place-Faking? The Paradoxical Effects of Transnational Circulation of Architectural and Urban Development Projects. In A. P. Russo and G. Richards (eds), Reinventing the Local in Tourism: Producing, Consuming and Negotiating Place, 153170. Bristol: Channel View.

Porter, M. E. (1980). Competitive Strategy: Techniques for Analyzing Industries and Competitors. New York: Free Press.

Potts, J., Cunningham, S., Hartley, J., and Ormerod, P. (2008). Social Network Markets: A New Definition of the Creative Industries. Journal of Cultural Economics 32(3): 167185. Pratt, A. (2014). Cities: The Cultural Dimension. Future of Cities working paper. London: Government Office for Science.

Restaurant Day (2017). More about Restaurant Day. www.restaurantday.org/en/info/about/ Richards, G. (2001). Cultural Attractions and European Tourism. Wallingford, Oxon.: CABI (Centre for Agriculture and Biosciences International).

Richards, G. (2017). Eventful Cities: Strategies for Event-Based Urban Development. In J. Hannigan and G. Richards (eds), SAGE Handbook of New Urban Studies, 4360. London: SAGE.

Richards, G. and Palmer, R. (2010). Eventful Cities: Cultural Management and Urban Regeneration. London: Routledge.

Sacco, P. L., and Blessi, G. T. (2007). European Culture Capitals and Local Development Strategies: Comparing the Genoa and Lille 2004 Cases. Homo Oeconomicus 24(1): 111141.

Sacco, P. L., and Crociata, A. (2013). A Conceptual Regulatory Framework for the Design and Evaluation of Complex, Participative Cultural Planning Strategies. International Journal of Urban and Regional Research 37(5): 16881706.

Sanphillippo, J. (2017). Re-inhabitation of Small Town America.

www.newgeography.com/content/005533-re-inhabitation-small-town-america

Sen, A. (1999). Development as Freedom. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Sewell, W. H. (1996). Historical Events as Transformations of Structures: Inventing

Revolution at the Bastille. Theory and Society 25: 841881.64

Shove, E. (2009). Everyday Practice and the Production and Consumption of Time. In E. Shove, F. Trentmann and R. Wilk (eds), Time, Consumption and Everyday Life: Practice, Materiality and Culture, 1734. Oxford: Berg.

Shove, E. (2014). Working Paper 10. Presented at the workshop Demanding Ideas: Where Theories of Practice Might Go Next, 1820 June, Windermere, UK.

Silver, D. (2017). Some Scenes of Urban Life. In J. Hannigan and G. Richards (eds), SAGE Handbook of New Urban Studies, 408429. London: SAGE.

Simons, I. (2017). The Practices of the Eventful City: The Case of Incubate Festival. Event Management 21(5): 593608.

Sleutjes, B. (2013). The Hard and Soft Side of European Knowledge Regions. Amsterdam: Help UVA-VU report 1.

Smith, A. (2015). Events in the City: Using Public Spaces as Event Venues. London: Routledge.

Storper, M., and Scott, A. J. (2009). Rethinking Human Capital, Creativity and Urban Growth. Journal of Economic Geography 9(2): 147167.

Tittle, C. R., and Grasmick, H. G. (2001). Urbanity: Influences of Urbanness, Structure, and Culture. Social Science Research 30(2): 313335.

Turok, I. (2009). The Distinctive City: Pitfalls in the Pursuit of Differential Advantage.

Environment and Planning A 41(1): 1330.

UNWTO (United Nations World Tourism Organization) (2005). City Tourism and Culture. Madrid: UNWTO.

van Heur, B. (2012). Small Cities and the Sociospatial Specificity of Economic Development. In A. Lorentzen and B. van Heur (eds), Cultural Political Economy of Small Cities, 1730. London: Routledge.

Wynn, J. R. (2015). Music/City: American Festivals and Placemaking in Austin, Nashville, and Newport. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Zijderveld, A. C. (1998). A Theory of Urbanity: The Economic and Civic Culture of Cities. London: Transaction.

## **Placemaking Process**

Brenholdt, J. O. (2017). Moving to Meet and Make: Rethinking Creativity in Making Things Take Place. In J. Hannigan and G. Richards (eds), The SAGE Handbook of New Urban Studies, 330342. London: SAGE.

Baker, B. (2007). Destination Branding for Small Cities: The Essentials for Successful Place Branding. Tualatin, Ore.: Creative Leap Books.

Bartels, G. (2013). Issues en maatschappelijke problemen: Wat zijn issues en hoe ontstaan ze? PhD thesis, Tilburg University.

Bayfield, H. (2015). Mobilising Manchester through the Manchester International Festival: Whose City, Whose Culture? An Exploration of the Representation of Cities through Cultural Events. PhD, University of Sheffield.

Bevolo, M. (2014). The Discourse of Design as an Asset for the City. In G. Richards, L. Margues, and K. Mein (eds), Event Design; Social Perspectives and Practices, 6577. London: Routledge.85

Bourne, L. (2006). Project Relationships and the Stakeholder Circle. Paper presented at PMI Research Conference, Montreal, Canada, July. www.pmi.org

Brugha, R., and Varvasovszky, Z. (2000). Stakeholder Analysis: A Review. Health Policy and Planning 15(3): 239246.

Chang, C.-H. (2015). Place-Making under Japans Neoliberal Regime: Ethics, Locality, and Community in Rural Hokkaido. Dissertation, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign; published by ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.

Collins, R. (2014). Interaction Ritual Chains. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press. Eurocities (2010). A Shared Vision on City Branding in Europe. Brussels: Eurocities.

Freeman, R. E. (1984). Strategic Management: A Stakeholder Approach. Melbourne: Pitman. Gemeente s-Hertogenbosch (2017). Gemeente Verslag 2016. s-Hertogenbosch: Gemeente s-Hertogenbosch.

Giordano, E., and Ong, C. E. (2017). Light Festivals, Policy Mobilities and Urban Tourism. Tourism Geographies 19(5): 699716.

Gottdiener, M. (2001). The Theming of America: American Dreams, Media Fantasies, and Themed Environments, 2nd edn. Boulder, Colo.: Westview Press.

Gray, B. (1985). Conditions Facilitating Interorganizational Collaboration. Human Relations 38(10): 911936.

Hernandez, E. (2010). Comment lillumination nocturne est devenue une politique urbaine: la circulation de modles damnagement de Lyon (France) Puebla, Morelia et San Luis Potos (Mexique). PhD thesis, Universit Paris-Est.

Jarman, D., Theodoraki, E., Hall, H., and Ali-Knight, J. (2014). Social Network Analysis and Festival Cities: An Exploration of Concepts, Literature and Methods. International Journal of Event and Festival Management 5(3): 311322.

Kavaratzis, M., and Ashworth, G. J. (2005). City Branding: An Effective Assertion of Identity or a Transitory Marketing Trick? Tijdschrift voor economische en sociale geografie 96(5): 506514.

Kresl, P. K. (1995). The Determinants of Urban Competitiveness: A Survey. In P. K. Kresl and G. Gappert (eds), North American Cities and the Global Economy: Challenges and Opportunities, 4568. New York: SAGE.

Lhdesmki, T. (2013), Cultural Activism as a Counter-discourse to the European Capital of Culture Programme: The Case of Turku 2011. European Journal of Cultural Studies 16(5): 598619.

Larson, M. (2009). Joint Event Production in the Jungle, the Park, and the Garden: Metaphors of Event Networks. Tourism Management 30(3): 393399.

Lorentzen, A., and van Heur, B. (2012). Cultural Political Economy of Small Cities. London: Routledge.

Luxemburg and Greater Region (2008). Luxembourg and Greater Region, European Capital of Culture 2007: Final Report. Luxemburg: Ministre de la Culture, de l'Enseignement Suprieur et de la Recherche.

Lyman, R. (2017). What Makes Good Neighbors? In This German City, Its Not Good Fences. New York Times, 2 May, www.nytimes.com/2017/05/02/insider/what-makes-good-neighborsin-one-german-city-it-might-not-be-the-fences.html?mcubz=0 86

Markusen, A. R., and Gadwa Nicodemus, A. (2010). Creative Placemaking. Washington, DC: Mayors Institute on City Design and the National Endowment for the Arts.

www.nea.gov/pub/CreativePlacemaking-Paper.pdf

Markusen, A. R., Lee, Y. S., and DiGiovanna, S. (eds) (1999). Second Tier Cities: Rapid Growth Beyond the Metropolis. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.

McCann, E. (2011). Urban Policy Mobilities and Global Circuits of Knowledge: Toward a Research Agenda. Annals of the Association of American Geographers 101(1): 107130. Mossberger, K., and Stoker, G. (2001). The Evolution of Urban Regime Theory: The

Challenge of Conceptualization. Urban Affairs Review 36(6): 810835.

Moss Kanter, R. (1995). Thriving Locally in the Global Economy, Harvard Business Review. Best of 1995: 111.

Nmeth, . (2016). European Capitals of Culture: Digging Deeper into the Governance of the Mega-event. Térritory, Politics, Governance 4(1): 5274.

Orsman, B. (2016). Aucklands Brand Not so Desired. New Zealand Herald, 12 Nov. www.nzherald.co.nz/nz/news/article.cfm?c id=1&objectid=11746553

Podest, M., and Richards, G. (2017). Creating Knowledge Spillovers through Knowledge Based Festivals: The Case of Mantua. Journal of Policy Research in Tourism, Leisure and Events. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/19407963.2017.1344244

Rachman, T. (2016). For Hieronymus Bosch, One Helluva Homecoming. New York Times, 4 Mar. www.nytimes.com/2016/03/05/arts/design/for-hieronymus-bosch-one-hell-of-a-homecoming.html?mcubz=0

Ratcliffe, J. S. (n.d.). Competitive Cities: Five Keys to Success.

www.chforum.org/library/compet cities.shtml

Rennen, W. (2007). CityEvents: Place Selling in a Media Age. Amsterdam: Vossiuspers Richards, G. (2017). From Place Branding to Placemaking: The Role of Events. International Journal of Event and Festival Management 8(1): 823.

Richards, G., and Palmer, R. (2010). Eventful Cities: Cultural Management and Urban Revitalisation. London: Routledge.

Richards, G., and Rotariu, I. (2015). Developing the Eventful City in Sibiu, Romania. International Journal of Tourism Cities 1(2): 89102.

Rifkin, J. (2005). When Markets Give Way to Networks Everything Is a Service. In J. Hartley (ed.), Creative Industries, 361373. Oxford: Blackwell.

Rotterdam Festivals (2016). Jaarverslag. Rotterdam: Rotterdam Festivals.

Sorensen, A. (2002). The Making of Urban Japan: Cities and Planning from Edo to the Twenty-First Century. London: Routledge.

Sorensen, A., Marcotullio, P. J., and Grant, G. (2017). Towards Sustainable Cities: East Asian, North American and European Perspectives on Managing Urban Regions. London: Routledge.

Stone, C. N. (1989). Regime Politics: Governing Atlanta, 19461988. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas.

Stooke, A. (2016). Hieronymus Bosch, Visions of Genius, Het Noordbrabants Museum: A Tour de Force. Review, Daily Telegraph, 11 Feb.

Todd, L., Leask, A., and Ensor, J. (2017). Understanding Primary Stakeholders Multiple Roles in Hallmark Event Tourism Management. Tourism Management 59: 494509.87 Verwijnen, J. (1999). The Creative Citys New Field Condition. In J. Verwijnen and P. Lehtovuori (eds), Creative Cities. Cultural Industries, Urban Development and the Information Society, 1235. Helsinki: University of Art and Design.

Yang, R. J. (2014). An Investigation of Stakeholder Analysis in Urban Development Projects: Empirical or Rationalistic Perspectives. International Journal of Project Management 32(5): 838849.

### The Art of Collaboration

Agterberg, N. (2015). The Social Network of the Bosch Parade. Dissertation in International Leisure Management, NHTV Breda.

Baccarne, B., Logghe, S., Schuurman, D., and De Marez, L. (2016). Quintuple Helix Innovation: Urban Living Labs and Socio-Ecological Entrepreneurship. Technology Innovation Management Review 6(3). https://timreview.ca/article/972

Bel, G., and Fageda, X. (2008). Getting There Fast: Globalization, Intercontinental Flights and Location of Headquarters. Journal of Economic Geography 8(4): 471495.

Borja, J., Belil, M., Castells, M., and Benner, C. (1997). Local and Global: The Management of Cities in the Information Age. London: Earthscan.

Centeno, M. J. (2016). bidos, Literary Village: Innovation in the Creative Industries? In ENCATC (ed.), Cultural Management Education in Risk Societies: Towards a Paradigm and Policy Shift?!, 4151. Brussels: ENCATC.

Cohendet, P., Grandadam, D., and Simon, L. (2010). The Anatomy of the Creative City. Industry and Innovation 17(1): 91111.

Dagnino, G. B., and Padula, G. (2002). Coopetition Strategy: Towards a New Kind of Interfirm Dynamics for Value Creation. Paper presented at EURAM 2nd Annual Conference, Stockholm School of Entrepreneurship, 810 May.

den Dekker, T., and Tabbers, M. (2012). From Creative Crowds to Creative Tourism. Journal of Tourism Consumption and Practice 4(2): 129132.

dOvidio, M., and Cossu, A. (2017). Culture Is Reclaiming the Creative City: The Case of Macao in Milan, Italy. City, Culture and Society 8: 712.

El Nasser, H. (2012). More Small Towns Thinking Big. USA Today, 16 Oct. www.usatoday.com/story/news/nation/2012/10/16/small-towns-think-big/1637047/

ENOLL (2017). What are Living Labs? www.openlivinglabs.eu/node/1429

Eraydn, A., Krolu, B. A., ztrk, H. E., and Yaar, S. S. (2008). Network Governance for Competitiveness: The Role of Policy Networks in the Economic Performance of Settlements in the Izmir region. Urban Studies 45(11): 22912321.116

Ernstson, H., Barthel, S. Andersson, E., and Borgstrm, S. T. (2010). Scale-Crossing Brokers and Network Governance of Urban Ecosystem Services: The Case of Stockholm. Ecology and Society 15(4): 28. www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol15/iss4/art28/

Ferilli, G., Sacco, P.-L., and Noda, K. (2015). Culture Driven Policies and Revaluation of Local Cultural Assets: A Tale of Two Cities, Otaru and Ybari. City, Culture and Society 6(4): 135143.

Fisker, J. K. (2015). Municipalities as Experiential Stagers in the New Economy: Emerging Practices in Frederikshavn, North Denmark. In A. Lorentzen , K. T. Larsen , and L. Schrder (eds), Spatial Dynamics in the Experience Economy, 6480. London: Routledge.

Fredrikshavn Kommune (2008). International Strategy. https://frederikshavn.dk/PDF%20Dokumenter/politikker\_og\_visioner/erhvervs\_og\_energiomraadet/International%20strategi%20-%20engelsk%20version.pdf

Freire-Gibb, L. C., and Lorentzen, A. (2011). A Platform for Local Entrepreneurship: The Case of the Lighting Festival of Frederikshavn. Local Economy 26(3): 157169. Gemeente Helmond (2013). Raadsinformatiebrief 91.

www.helmond.nl/BIS/2013/RIB/RIB%20091%20Evaluatie%20deelname%20Culturele%20Ho ofdstad.pdf

Getz, D. (2017). Developing a Framework for Sustainable Event Cities. Event Management 21: 575591.

Government Technology (2016). Thinking Big: 6 Innovative Ideas from Small Cities. January 11. www.govtech.com/internet/Thinking-Big-6-Innovative-Ideas-from-Small-Cities.html Graham, S. (1995). From Urban Competition to Urban Collaboration? The Development of Interurban Telematics Networks. Environment and Planning C: Politics and Space 13(4): 503524.

Hesseldahl, P. (2017). WE-economy: Beyond the Industrial Logic. http://we-economy.net/what-is-the-we-economy/the-book/

Homans, G. C. (1958). Social Behavior as Exchange. American Journal of Sociology 63(6): 597606.

Hospers, G.-J. (2006). Borders, Bridges and Branding: The Transformation of the resund Region into an Imagined Space. European Planning Studies 14(8): 10151019.

Kresl, P. K. , and letri, D. (2016). Smaller Cities in a World of Competitiveness. London: Routledge.

Larson, M. (2009). Joint Event Production in the Jungle, the Park, and the Garden: Metaphors of Event Networks. Tourism Management 30(3): 393399.

Lorentzen, A. (2008). Knowledge Networks in the Experience Economy: An Analysis of Four Flagships Projects in Frederikshavn. Aalborg: Institut for Samfundsudvikling og Planlgning, Aalborg Universitet.

Lorentzen, A. (2010). New Spatial Strategies in the Danish Periphery: Culture, Leisure and Experiences as Levers of Growth? In Workshop: The Experience Turn in Local Development and Planning, 19. Aalborg, Denmark: Dept of Development and Planning, Aalborg University. Lorentzen, A. (2012). In A. Lorentzen and B. van Heur (eds), Cultural Political Economy of Small Cities, 6579. London: Routledge.117

Luxemburg and Greater Region (2008). Luxemburg and Greater Region European Capital of Culture 2007: Final Report. Luxemburg: Ministre de la Culture, de lEnseignement Suprieur et de la Recherche.

Meijers, E. J., Burger, M. J., and Hoogerbrugge, M. M. (2016). Borrowing Size in Networks of Cities: City Size, Network Connectivity and Metropolitan Functions in Europe. Regional Science 95(1): 181198.

Nsholm, M. H., and Blomquist, T. (2015). Co-creation as a Strategy for Program Management. International Journal of Managing Projects in Business 8(1): 5873.

Neal, Z. P. (2013). The Connected City: How Networks are Shaping the Modern Metropolis. London: Routledge.

Pasquinelli, C. (2013). Competition, Cooperation and Co-opetition: Unfolding the Process of Inter-territorial Branding. Urban Research & Practice 6(1): 118.

Podest, M., and Richards, G. (2017). Creating Knowledge Spillovers through Knowledge Based Festivals: The Case of Mantua. Journal of Policy Research in Tourism, Leisure and

Events. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/19407963.2017.1344244

Poisson-de Haro , S., and Myard, A. (2017). Cultural Cluster Coopetition: A Look at the Montreal Circus World. Canadian Journal of Administrative Sciences/Revue. doi/10.1002/cjas.1448

Porter, M. E. (2008). Competitive Advantage: Creating and Sustaining Superior Performance. New York: Simon and Schuster.

Rennen, W. (2007). CityEvents: Place Selling in a Media Age. Amsterdam: Vossiuspers.

Richards, G., and Colombo, A. (2017). The Barcelona Snar Festival as a Global Events Hub. In J. Ambrecht, E. Lundberg, T. D. Andersson, and D. Getz (eds), The Value of Events, 7386. London: Routledge.

Richards G., Hitters, E., and Fernandes, C. (2002). Rotterdam and Porto: Cultural Capitals 2001. Visitor Research. Arnhem: ATLAS.

Selada, C., Cunha, I., and Tomaz, E. (2012). Creative-Based Strategies in Small and Medium-Sized Cities: Key Dimensions of Analysis. Quaestiones Geographicae 31(4): 4351.

Short, J. R. (2017). A Research Agenda for Cities. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.

Simmie, J. (2003). Innovative Cities. London: Routledge.

Taylor, P. (2003). European Cities in the World City Network. In The European Metropolis 19202000. Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/1765/1021

Taylor, P. J., Ni, P., Derudder, B., Hoyler, M., Huang, J., and Witlox, F. (2012). Global Urban Analysis: A Survey of Cities in Globalization. London: Routledge.

Thibert, J. (2015a). Governing Urban Regions Through Collaboration: A View from North America. London: Routledge.

Thibert, J. (2015b) Beware the Collaboration Trap.

http://policyoptions.irpp.org/magazines/environmental-faith/thibert/

Tom Fleming Creative Consultancy (2015). Cultural and Creative Spillovers in Europe: Report on a Preliminary Evidence Review.

https://ccspillovers.wikispaces.com/Evidence+review+2015

### Governance

Aarhus 2017 (2015). European Capital of Culture Aarhus 2017: Strategic Business Plan. Aarhus.

Brenholdt, J. O. (2017). Moving to Meet and Make: Rethinking Creativity in Making Things Take Place. In J. Hannigan and G. Richards (eds), The SAGE Handbook of New Urban Studies, 330342. London: SAGE.

Bartle, J. R., Kriz, K. A., and Morozov, B. (2011). Local Government Revenue Structure: Trends and Challenges. Public Administration Faculty Publications, Paper 4. http://digitalcommons.unomaha.edu/pubadfacpub/4.

Beuks, J. A., Knitel, K. W., and De Wijs, I. (2011). Een onderzoek naar het netwerk rondom de meerjarige, internationale manifestatie Jheronimus Bosch 500. Tilburg: Tilburg University. Bollier, D. (2015). The City as Platform: How Digital Networks Are Changing Urban Life and Governance. Washington, DC: Aspen Institute.

Citroni, S., and Karrholm, M. (2017). Neighbourhood Events and the Visibilisation of Everyday Life: The Cases of Turro (Milan) and Norra Fladen (Lund). European Urban and Regional Studies. https://doi.org/10.1177/0969776417719489

City of Santa Fe (2007). Santa Fe Downtown Vision Plan. Santa Fe, NM: City of Santa Fe. Collins, R. (2004). Interaction Ritual Chains. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

DeSantis, V. S., and Renner, T. (2002). City Government Structures: An Attempt at Clarification. State and Local Government Review 34(2): 95104.

Dovey, K. (2010). Becoming Places: Urbanism/Architecture/Identity/Power. London: Routledge.

Eraydn, A., Armatl Krolu, B., Erku ztrk, H., and Senem Yaar, S. (2008). Network Governance for Competitiveness: The Role of Policy Networks in the Economic Performance of Settlements in the Izmir Region. Urban Studies 45(11): 22912321.

FDi Magazine (2016). European Cities and Regions of the Future 2016/17.

http://www.fdiintelligence.com/Rankings/European-Cities-and-Regions-of-the-Future-2016-17?ct=true 139

Florida, R. (2002). The Rise of the Creative Class: And How Its Transforming Work, Leisure and Community. New York: Basic Books.

- Hall, P. (1996). Cities of Tomorrow. Malden, Mass.: Blackwell.
- Hannigan, J., and Richards, G. (eds) (2017). SAGE Handbook of New Urban Studies. London: SAGE.
- Ingold, T. (2013). Making: Anthropology, Archaeology, Art and Architecture. London: Routledge.
- Jessop, B., and Sum, N.-L. (2000). An Entrepreneurial City in Action: Hong Kongs Emerging Strategies In and For (Inter)urban Competition. Urban Studies 37(12): 22872313.
- Jones, C., Hesterly, W. S., and Borgatti, S. P. (1997). A General Theory of Network Governance: Exchange Conditions and Social Mechanisms. Academy of Management Review 22(4): 911945.
- Kresl, P. K. , and letri, D. (2016). Smaller Cities in a World of Competitiveness. London: Routledge.
- Kvistgaard, P., and Hird, J. (2017). The Role of Trust, Empathy and Patience in Destination Development.
- $\label{linear_https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/draft/AgHnofNGPwoSUwAAAV5hIARbFbNYJzFYoAGjkelhAKNbYqWU16qx6MiyyiKAU-j8\_C0ptC0$
- Larsen, J., and Urry, J. (2008). Networking in Mobile Societies. In J. O. Barenholdt and B. Granas (eds), Mobility and Place: Enacting Northern European Peripheries, 89101. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Libert, B. , Beck, M. , and Wind, J. (2016). The Network Imperative: How to Survive and Grow in the Age of Digital Business Models. Boston, Mass.: Harvard Business Review Press.
- Lorentzen, A. , and van Heur, B. (eds) (2012). Cultural Political Economy of Small Cities. London: Routledge.
- Nsholm, M. H., and Blomquist, T. (2015). Co-creation as a Strategy for Program Management. International Journal of Managing Projects in Business 8(1): 5873.
- Nmeth, . (2016). European Capitals of Culture: Digging Deeper into the Governance of the Mega-event. Territory, Politics, Governance 4(1): 5274.
- OReilly, T. (2017). WTF? Whats the Future and Why Its Up to Us. New York: HarperCollins. Pasquinelli, C. (2013). Competition, Cooperation and Co-opetition: Unfolding the Process of Inter-territorial Branding. Urban Research & Practice 6(1): 118.
- Pierre, J. (1999). Models of Urban Governance: The Institutional Dimension of Urban Politics. Urban Affairs Review 34: 372396.
- Provan, K. G., and Kenis, P. (2008). Modes of Network Governance: Structure, Management, and Effectiveness. Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory 18(2): 229252.
- Richards, G. (2015). Events in the Network Society: The Role of Pulsar and Iterative Events. Event Management 19(4): 553566.
- Richards, G. (2017). From Place Branding to Placemaking: The Role of Events. International Journal of Event and Festival Management 8(1): 823.
- Richards, G., and Rotariu, I. (2015). Developing the Eventful City in Sibiu, Romania. International Journal of Tourism Cities 1(2): 89102.140
- Sahasranaman, A., and Prasad, V. (2014). Sustainable Financing for Indian Cities. http://financingcities.ifmr.co.in/blog/category/municipal-finance/
- Shove, E. , Pantzar, M. , and Watson, M. (2012). The Dynamics of Social Practice: Everyday Life and How It Changes. London: Sage.
- Soldo, E., Arnaud, C., and Keramidas, O. (2013). Direct Control of Cultural Events as a Means of Leveraging the Sustainable Attractiveness of the Territory? Analysis of the Managerial Conditions for Success. International Review of Administrative Sciences 79(4): 725746.
- Swope, C. (2015). Adelaides Peter Smith on place governance. Citiscope, 29 Apr. http://citiscope.org/story/2015/adelaides-peter-smith-place-governance
- Tax Policy Center (2017). Briefing Book. www.taxpolicycenter.org/briefing-book/what-are-sources-revenue-local-governments.
- Thibert, J. (2015a). Governing Urban Regions Through Collaboration. London: Routledge.
- Thibert, J. (2015b). Beware the Collaboration Trap.
- http://policyoptions.irpp.org/magazines/environmental-faith/thibert/
- UCLG (2016) Subnational Governments Around the World: Structure and Finance.
- www.uclg-localfinance.org/sites/default/files/Observatory\_web\_0.pdf. UN-Habitat (2017), Governance, http://unhabitat.org/governance/
- van Heur, B. (2012). Small Cities and the Sociospatial Specificity of Economic Development. In A. Lorentzen and B. van Heur (eds), Cultural Political Economy of Small Cities, 1730. London: Routledge.

Verwijnen, J. (1999). The Creative Citys New Field Condition. In J. Verwijnen and P. Lehtovuori (eds), Creative Cities: Cultural Industries, Urban Development and the Information Society, 1235. Helsinki: University of Art and Design Helsinki.

Ward, K. (2011). Entrepreneurial Urbanism, Policy Tourism and the Making Mobile of Policies. In G. Bridge and S. Watson (eds), The New Blackwell Companion to the City, 726737. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell.

Wynn, J. R. (2015). Music/City: American Festivals and Placemaking in Austin, Nashville, and Newport. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

## Marketing and Branding the Small City

Bayfield, H. (2015). Mobilising Manchester through the Manchester International Festival: Whose City, Whose Culture? An Exploration of the Representation of Cities through Cultural Events. PhD, University of Sheffield.

Bliss, L. (2017). A Ridiculous City-Branding Campaign We Can Get Behind. Citylab, 12 Apr. www.citylab.com/equity/2017/04/a-ridiculous-city-branding-campaign-we-can-get-behind/522696/

Bonink, C., and Richards, G. (2002). Imagovorming van gemeenten in Nederland. Een rapport voor het Cultuurfonds van de BNG. The Hague: Bank der Nederlandse Gemeenten. City of Tampere (2017). The Tampere of the Future Will Be Built on the Ideas of its Residents. www.tampere.fi/en/city-of-tampere/info/current-issues/2017/05/12052017\_1.html Co.Design (2012). A British Town Tries to Reinvent Itself for Tourists, Via Branding. www.fastcodesign.com/1670339/a-british-town-tries-to-reinvent-itself-for-tourists-via-branding de Certeau, M. (1984). The Practice of Everyday Life. Berkeley: University of California Press.

Eurocities (2011). A Shared Vision on City Branding in Europe.

www.imagian.com/kuvat/eurocities city branding final-smul%5B1%5D.pdf 162

Eurocities (2013). Integrated City-Brand Building: Beyond the Marketing Approach. Reporting note on the City Logo-Eurocities thematic workshop Utrecht, 24 Oct.

urbact.eu//CityLogo//reportOslo\_citybrand\_management-citylogo\_tw01\_01.pdf

Evans, G. (2003). Hard-Branding the Cultural City: From Prado to Prada. International Journal of Urban and Regional Research 27(2): 417440.

Gemeente Breda (2017). Breda presenteert nieuwe stadsslogan: Breda brengt het samen. https://www.breda.nl/breda-presenteert-nieuwe-stadsslogan-breda-brengt-het-samen Kavaratzis, M., and Ashworth, G. J. (2005). City Branding: An Effective Assertion of Identity or a Transitory Marketing Trick? Tijdschrift voor economische en sociale geografie 96(5): 506514.

Kornberger, M. (2014). Open Sourcing the City Brand. In P. O. Berg and E. Bjrner (eds), Branding Chinese Mega-Cities: Policies, Practices and Positioning, 180192. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.

LAGroup (2006). s-Hertogenbosch. Amsterdam: LAGroup Leisure & Arts Consulting. Marketing Manchester (2009). Original Modern. Manchester: Marketing Manchester. www.marketingtribune.nl/media/nieuws/2017/03/[cross-media-innovatie-2017]-ingrid-walschots-over-de-interactieve-document/index.xml

Marketing Tribune (2017). Ingrid Walschots over de interactieve documentaire Jheronimus Bosch, De tuin der lusten.

Pasquinelli, C. (2013). Competition, Cooperation and Co-opetition: Unfolding the Process of Inter-territorial Branding. Urban Research & Practice 6: 118.

Putnam, R. D. (2000). Bowling Alone: Americas Declining Social Capital. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.

Rennen, W. (2007). CityEvents: Place Selling in a Media Age. Amsterdam: Vossiuspers. Richards, G. (2014). Guimares and Maribor, European Capitals of Culture 2012. Arnhem: ATLAS.

Richards, G., and Rotariu, I. (2015). Developing the Eventful City in Sibiu, Romania. International Journal of Tourism Cities 1(2): 89102.

Richards, G. and Wilson, J. (2006). Developing Creativity in Tourist Experiences: A Solution to the Serial Reproduction of Culture? Tourism Management 27: 12091223.

Ristilammi, P.-M. (2000). Cultural Bridges, Events, and the New Region. In P. O. Berg , A. Linde-Laursen , and O. Lofgren (eds), Invoking a Transnational Metropolis: The Making of the

resund Region, 95108. Lund: Studentlitteratur.

STB (Singapore Tourism Board) (2016). STB Marketing Strategy: Of Stories, Fans and Channels. Singapore: STB.

Universidade do Minho (2013). Guimares 2012: Capital europeia da cultura. Impactos econmicos e sociais. Relatrio intercalar. Guimares: Fundao Cidade de Guimares.

Wood, L. (2000). Brands and Brand Equity: Definition and Management. Management Decision 38(9): 662669.

## Impacts and Effects

Afdeling Onderzoek & Statistiek (2017). Eindevaluatie manifestatie Jheronimus Bosch 500, s-Hertogenbosch 2016, s-Hertogenbosch: Gemeente s-Hertogenbosch.

Americans for the Arts (2012). Arts & Economic Prosperity IV. www.americansforthearts.org Asle Bergsgard, N., and Vassenden, A. (2011). The Legacy of Stavanger as Capital of Culture in Europe 2008: Watershed or Puff of Wind? International Journal of Cultural Policy 17(3): 301320.

Chalip, L. (2006). Towards Social Leverage of Sport Events. Journal of Sport & Tourism 11(2): 109127.

Crespi-Vallbona, M., and Richards, G. (2007). The Meaning of Cultural Festivals:

Stakeholder Perspectives in Catalunya. International Journal of Cultural Policy 13(1): 103122.

Dollinger, L. (2015). A Study about Social Cohesion in s-Hertogenbosch. BA thesis, NHTV Breda.

Douniaux, V. (2012). Lille 3000 Happening.

http://www.shift.jp.org/en/archives/2012/12/lille\_3000.html

Falk, M., and Hagsten, E. (2017). Measuring the Impact of the European Capital of Culture Programme on Overnight Stays: Evidence for the Last Two Decades. European Planning Studies 25(12): 21752191.

Garcia, B. (2005). Deconstructing the City of Culture: The Long-Term Cultural Legacies of Glasgow 1990. Urban Studies 42(56): 841868.191

Getz, D. (2017). Developing a Framework for Sustainable Event Cities. Event Management 21(5): 575591.

Gold, J., and Gold, M. (2017). Olympic Futures and Urban Imaginings: From Albertopolis to Olympicopolis. In J. Hannigan and G. Richards (eds), The SAGE Handbook of New Urban Studies, 514534. London: SAGE.

Guintcheva, G., and Passebois-Ducros, J. (2012). Lille Metropolitan Art Programme: Museum Networking in Northern France. International Journal of Arts Management 15(1): 5455.

Hiller, H. H. (2003). Toward a Science of Olympic Outcomes: The Urban Legacy. In M. De Moragas, C. Kennett, and N. Puig (eds), The Legacy of the Olympic Games 19842000, 102109. Lausanne: International Olympic Committee.

Hitters, E., and Richards, G. (2002). Cultural Quarters to Leisure Zones: The Role of Partnership in Developing the Cultural Industries. Creativity and Innovation Management 11: 234247.

Horsens Kommune (2012). Giro Start 2012 i Horsens i international finale.

http://horsens.dk/Nyheder/2012/Oktober/Nyheder/Giro-Start-2012-i-Horsens-i-international-finale

KEA (2016). Mons 2015European Capital of Culture: Demystifying the Risk of Cultural Investment. Brussels: KEA.

Kern, L. (2016). Rhythms of Gentrification: Eventfulness and Slow Violence in a Happening Neighbourhood. Cultural Geographies 23(3): 441457.

Markusen, A. , and Gadwa Nicodemus , A. (2010). Creative Placemaking. Washington, DC: National Endowment for the Arts.

McGillivray, D., and Turner, D. (2017). Event Bidding: Politics, Persuasion and Resistance. London: Routledge.

Miller, M. , Tjomsland, N. , Hansen, M. E. , Robberstad, K. H. , Aae, B. , and Wrapson, A. (eds) (2009). Our Story. Stavanger: Stavanger2008. www.tram-

research.com/Our%20Story%20Stavanger%202008.pdf

Oakley, K. (2015). Creating Space: A Re-evaluation of the Role of Culture in Regeneration. http://eprints.whiterose.ac.uk/88559/3/AHRC\_Cultural\_Value\_KO%20Final.pdf Palmer, R. (2004). Palmer Report on the Capitals of Culture from 19952004. Brussels: European Commission.

Paris, D., and Baert, T. (2011). Lille 2004 and the Role of Culture in the Regeneration of Lille Mtropole. Town Planning Review 82(1): 2944.

Pasquinelli, C. (2013). Competition, Cooperation and Co-opetition: Unfolding the Process of Inter-territorial Branding. Urban Research & Practice 6: 118.

Ramsey, D., Eberts, D., and Everitt, J. (2007). Revitalizing Small City Downtowns: The Case of Brandon, Canada. In B. Ofori-Amoah (ed.), Beyond the Metropolis: Urban Geography As If Small Cities Mattered, 221244. Lanham, Md.: University Press of America.

Rekenkamercommissie (2016). Onderzoek beleid en ontwikkeling citymarketing en evenementen maart 2016. s-Hertogenbosch: Gemeente s-Hertogenbosch.

Respons (2016). G50 Evenementen Monitor. www.respons.nl/monitoren-online-databases/g50

Richards, G. (2010). The Traditional Quantitative Approach. Surveying Cultural Tourists: Lessons from the ATLAS Cultural Tourism Research 192Project . In G. Richards and W. Munsters (eds), Cultural Tourism Research Methods, 1332. Wallingford: CABI.

Richards, G. (2014). Evaluating the European Capital of Culture that Never Was: The Case of Brabantstad 2018. Journal of Policy Research in Tourism, Leisure and Events 6(3): 116. Richards, G. (2017). From Place Branding to Placemaking: The Role of Events. International Journal of Event and Festival Management 8(1): 823.

Richards, G. , de Brito, M. , and Wilks, L. (2013). Exploring the Social Impacts of Events. London: Routledge.

Richards G., Hitters, E., and Fernandes C. (2002). Rotterdam and Porto: Cultural Capitals 2001. Visitor Research. Arnhem: ATLAS.

Richards, G., and Marques, L. (2016). Bidding for Success? Impacts of the European Capital of Culture Bid. Scandinavian Journal of Hospitality and Tourism 16(2): 180195.

Richards, G., and Rotariu, I. (2015). Developing the Eventful City in Sibiu, Romania. International Journal of Tourism Cities 1(2): 89102.

Sacco, P. L., and Blessi, G. T. (2007). European Culture Capitals and Local Development Strategies: Comparing the Genoa and Lille 2004 Cases. Homo Oeconomicus 24(1): 111141. Saylor, D. (2016). CITY of NIGHT and the Impact of Placemaking. Forum Journal 30(3): 3745.

Setouchi Triennale Executive Committee (2016). General Report. Takamatsu: Setouchi Triennale Executive Committee.

Smith, A. (2014). Leveraging Sport Mega-Events: New Model or Convenient Justification? Journal of Policy Research in Tourism, Leisure and Events 6(13): 1530.

Stern, M., and Seifert, S. (2010). Cultural Clusters: The Implications of Cultural Assets Agglomeration for Neighborhood Revitalization. Journal of Planning Education and Research 29(3): 262279.

van Bommel, M., du Long, K., Luijten, J., and Richards, G. (2011). BrabantStads candidacy for European Capital of Culture 2018. Baseline Study: The Main Conclusions. Tilburg: PON. van Gool, W., Oldenboom, E., Ratgers, L., and van Schendel, A. (2009). La Vuelta Drenthe Holanda: Beleving en economische impact. Breda: NHTV.

Visit Denmark (2012). Evaluering af Giro-starten 2012: Tilskueroplevelse, turismeomstning og markedsfringseffekter. www.visitdenmark.dk/sites/default/files/vdk\_images/PDF-and-other-files/Analyser/2013/evaluering af giro-starten 2012.pdf

Waterman, S. (1998). Carnivals for Elites? The Cultural Politics of Arts Festivals. Progress in Human Geography 22(1): 5474.

Whitaker Institute (2015). Economic Baseline Summary Overview Galway City. Galway: Whitaker Institute, NUI Galway.

Wood, E. H. (2005). Measuring the Economic and Social Impacts of Local Authority Events. International Journal of Public Sector Management 18(1): 3753.

Zukin, S. (2009). Naked City: The Death and Life of Authentic Urban Places. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

### **Tempo**

Afdeling Onderzoek & Statistiek (2017). Eindevaluatie manifestatie Jheronimus Bosch 500, s-Hertogenbosch 2016. s-Hertogenbosch: Gemeente s-Hertogenbosch.

Bramwell, B. (1997). Strategic Planning Before and After a Mega-event. Tourism Management 18(3): 167176.

Fisker, J. K. (2015). Municipalities as Experiential Stagers in the New Economy: Emerging Practices in Frederikshavn, North Denmark. In A. Lorentzen , K. Tops Larsen , and L.

Schrder (eds), Spatial Dynamics in the Experience Economy, 5268. London: Routledge.

Flyvbjerg, B. (2014). What You Should Know about Megaprojects and Why: An Overview. Project Management Journal 45(2): 619.

Flyvbjerg, B., Bruzelius, N., and Rothengatter, W. (2003). Megaprojects and Risk: An Anatomy of Ambition. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Laursen, L. H. (2013). Palm Beach and Naval Battle: Events and Experiences in a Danish Fringe Area. Nordic Journal of Architectural Research 20(1): 7582.

Niedomysl, T. (2004). Evaluating the Effects of Place-Marketing Campaigns on Interregional Migration in Sweden. Environment and Planning A 36(11): 19912009.

Palonen, E. (2010). Multi-level Cultural Policy and Politics of European Capitals of Culture. Nordisk kulturpolitisk tidsskrift 13: 87108.

Pasquinelli, C. (2013). Competition, Cooperation and Co-opetition: Unfolding the Process of Inter-territorial Branding. Urban Research & Practice 6(1): 118,214

Peck, J. (2005). Struggling with the Creative Class. International Journal of Urban and Regional Research 29(4): 740770.

Plger, J. (2007). Bilbao. City Report, LSE CASEreport 43, London.

http://sticerd.lse.ac.uk/dps/case/cr/CASEreport43.pdf

Regional Plan Association (2012). Getting Infrastructure Going. www.rpa.org/article/getting-infrastructure-going-new-approach

Richards, G. (2010). Leisure in the Network Society: From Pseudo-events to Hyperfestivity? Tilburg: Tilburg University.

Richards, G. , Hitters, E. , and Fernandes, C. (2002). Rotterdam and Porto: Cultural Capitals 2001. Visitor Research. Arnhem: ATLAS.

Richards, G., and Palmer, R. (2010). Eventful Cities: Cultural Management and Urban Revitalisation. London: Routledge.

Sennett, R. (2009). The Craftsman. London: Penguin.

Simons, I. (2014). How to Slay a Dragon Slowly: Applying Slow Principles to Event Design. In G. Richards , L. Marques , and K. Mein (eds), Event Design: Social Perspectives and Practices, 7891. London: Routledge.

TRAM (2007). Haalbaarheid en effecten van het meerjarenprogramma Jeroen Bosch 500. Barcelona: TRAM.

## **Lessons for Other Places?**

Afdeling Onderzoek & Statistiek (2017). Eindevaluatie manifestatie Jheronimus Bosch 500. s-Hertogenbosch: Gemeente s-Hertogenbosch.

Asle Bergsgard, N., and Vassenden, A. (2011). The Legacy of Stavanger as Capital of Culture in Europe 2008: Watershed or Puff of Wind? International Journal of Cultural Policy 17(3): 301320.

Bck, H. , Heinelt, H. , and Magnier, A. (2006). The European Mayor: Political Leaders in the Changing Context of Local Democracy. Vienna: Springer.

Barnes, T. J., and Hayter, R. (1992). The Little Town That Did: Flexible Accumulation and Community Response in Chemainus, British Columbia. Regional Studies 26(7): 647663.

Bayfield, H. (2015). Mobilising Manchester through the Manchester International Festival: Whose City, Whose Culture? An Exploration of the Representation of Cities through Cultural Events. PhD, University of Sheffield.

Bollier, D. (2015). The City as Platform: How Digital Networks Are Changing Urban Life and Governance. Washington, DC: Aspen Institute.

Caselas, A. P. (2002). The Barcelona Model? Agents, Policies and Planning Dynamics in Tourism Development. PhD dissertation, Rutgers University.

Castells, M. (2009). Communication Power. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Chalip, L. (2006). Towards Social Leverage of Sport Events. Journal of Sport & Tourism 11(2): 109127.

Collits, P. (2000). Small Town Decline and Survival: Trends, Success Factors and Policy Issues. Paper presented at the conference Future of Australias Country Towns, La Trobe University, Bendigo, Australia.

Evans, G. , and Foord, J. (2006). Small Cities for a Small Country: Sustaining the Cultural Renaissance? London: Routledge.

Garrett-Petts, W. (2017). Culture, Tourism, Sustainability: Toward a Vernacular Rhetoric of Place Promotion. Paper presented at the conference Culture, Sustainability, and Place: Innovative Approaches for Tourism Development, Ponta Delgada, Portugal, 13 Oct. Giffinger, R., Kramar, H., and Hainl, G. (2008). The Role of Rankings in Growing City

Competition. In Proceedings of the 11th European Urban Research Association (EURA) Conference, Milan, Italy, 911 Oct. http://publik.tuwien.ac.at/files/PubDat\_167218.pdf.

Gold, J., and Gold, M. (2017). Olympic Futures and Urban Imaginings: From Albertopolis to Olympicopolis. In J. Hannigan and G. Richards (eds), The SAGE Handbook of New Urban Studies, 514534. London: SAGE.

Hildreth, J. (2008). The Saffron European City Brand Barometer: Revealing Which Cities Get the Brands They Deserve. http://saffron-consultants.com/wp-content/uploads/Saff CityBrandBarom.pdf 243

Hitzler, R. (2011). Eventisierung: Drei Fallstudien zum marketingstrategischen Massenspa. Wiesbaden: Verlag fr Sozialwissenschaften.

Kern, L. (2015). Rhythms of Gentrification: Eventfulness and Slow Violence in a Happening Neighbourhood. Cultural Geographies 23(3): 441457.

LAGroup (2015). Actualisering hotelonderzoek s-Hertogenbosch en omgeving. Amsterdam: LAGroup. www.ondernemenindenbosch.nl/uploads/media/564c3750d4de6/actualisering-hotelonderzoek-s-hertogenbosch-e-o-lagroup-april-2015.pdf

Lambe, W. (2008). Small Towns Big Ideas: Case Studies in Small Town Community Economic Development. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina School of Government and Rural Economic Development Center.

http://ncruralcenter.org/images/PDFs/Publications/stbigideasi.pdf

Lewis, N. M., and Donald, B. (2010). A New Rubric for Creative City Potential in Canadas Smaller Cities. Urban Studies 47(1): 2954.

Lorentzen, A. , and van Heur, B. (2012). Cultural Political Economy of Small Cities. London: Routledge.

Mahoney, T. R. (2003). The Small City in American History. Indiana Magazine of History 99(4): 311330.

Oakley, K. (2015). Creating Space: A Re-evaluation of the Role of Culture in Regeneration. http://eprints.whiterose.ac.uk/88559/3/AHRC\_Cultural\_Value\_KO%20Final.pdf Peck, J. (2005). Struggling with the Creative Class. International Journal of Urban and

Regional Research 29(4): 740770.

Ponzini, D., Fotev, S., and Mavaracchio, F. (2016). Place-Making or Place-Faking? The Paradoxical Effects of Transnational Circulation of Architectural and Urban Development Projects. In A. P. Russo and G. Richards (eds), Reinventing the Local in Tourism: Producing, Consuming and Negotiating Place, 153170. Bristol: Channel View.

Richards, G. (2001). Cultural Attractions and European Tourism. Wallingford, UK: CAB International.

Richards, G. (2017). From Place Branding to Placemaking: The Role of Events. International Journal of Event and Festival Management 8(1): 823.

Richards, G., and Wilson, J. (2006). Developing Creativity in Tourist Experiences: A Solution to the Serial Reproduction of Culture? Tourism Management 27: 12091223.

Rojek, C. (2013). Event Power: How Global Events Manage and Manipulate. London: SAGE. Rota, F. S., and Salone, C. (2014). Place-Making Processes in Unconventional Cultural Practices: The Case of Turins Content of Processes in Unconventional Cultural Practices: The Case of Turins Content of Processes in Unconventional Cultural Practices: The Case of Turins Content of Processes in Unconventional Cultural Practices: The Case of Turins Content of Processes in Unconventional Cultural Practices: The Case of Turins Content of Processes in Unconventional Cultural Practices: The Case of Turins Content of Processes in Unconventional Cultural Practices: The Case of Turins Content of Processes in Unconventional Cultural Practices: The Case of Turins Content of Processes in Unconventional Cultural Practices: The Case of Turins Content of Processes in Unconventional Cultural Practices: The Case of Turins Content of Processes in Unconventional Cultural Practices: The Case of Turins Content of Processes in Unconventional Cultural Practices: The Case of Turins Content of Processes in Unconventional Cultural Practices: The Case of Turins Content of Processes in Unconventional Cultural Practices in Unconventional Cultural Practices

Sacco, P. L., and Blessi, G. T. (2007). European Culture Capitals and Local Development Strategies: Comparing the Genoa and Lille 2004 Cases. Homo Oeconomicus 24(1): 111141. Simons, I. (2017). The Practices of the Eventful City: The Case of Incubate Festival. Event

Management 21(5): 593608.

Smith, A. (2015). Events in the City: Using Public Spaces as Event Venues. London:

Routledge. Stone, C. N. (1989). Regime Politics: Governing Atlanta, 19461988. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas.244 TRAM (2007). Haalbaarheid en effecten van het meerjarenprogramma Jheronimus Bosch 500. Barcelona: TRAM.

Turok, I. (2009). The Distinctive City: Pitfalls in the Pursuit of Differential Advantage. Environment and Planning A 41(1): 1330.

Waitt, G., and Gibson, C. (2009). Creative Small Cities: Rethinking the Creative Economy in Place. Urban Studies 46(56): 12231246.

Warren, G., and Dinnie, K. (2017). Exploring the Dimensions of Place Branding: An Application of the ICON Model to the Branding of Toronto. International Journal of Tourism Cities 3(1): 5668.

Wolman, H. (1992). Understanding Cross National Policy Transfers: The Case of Britain and the US. Governance 5(1): 2745.

Wynn, J. R. (2015). Music/City: American Festivals and Placemaking in Austin, Nashville, and Newport. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Wynn, J. (2016). Why Cities Should Stop Building Museums and Focus on Festivals. http://theconversation.com/why-cities-should-stop-building-museums-and-focus-on-festivals-57333